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Chairman and CEO Statement

Dear Shareholders,

With great pleasure and enthusiasm, I would like to share the vitally
transformational events for Zhaoke Ophthalmology in 2022, in which we
attained our primary goal of maturation from a pure R&D company to a
commercial pharmaceutical company. Despite multiple macro challenges
encountered in 2022, I am delighted to share several significant
milestones reached.

In 2022, we were particularly proud of our dual achievement in advancing
key clinical programs and developing differentiated commercial capabilities.
We solidified our leadership as an ophthalmology-focused company in
China with late-stage programs (Phase III or later) addressing significant
market opportunities in three major front-of-the-eye diseases. In addition,
we filed two NDA submissions, strengthened our position in the vast
market for the progression of myopia, initiated the commercialization
of our first product on Tmall, built a leading content portal for Chinese
ophthalmologists with our Boshi WeChat account, and received ANDA
approval for our first commercialized in-house manufactured drug
targeting glaucoma.

ERRITBRRRE

Dr. Li Xiaoyi
ZphRBE

Chairman of the Board and CEO
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Chairman and CEO Statement
FERITHABE RS

Outlined below are details related to these achievements:

CsA Ophthalmic Gel NDA application: Our NDA application for
CsA Ophthalmic Gel for DED was accepted for review by the NMPA
in June 2022. In addition, the drug passed onsite inspection by the
NMPA and GMP standards in January 2023.

NVKO002 completed patient recruitment for the Phase III
clinical trials in China significantly ahead of schedule. Our
partner Vyluma successfully concluded their global Phase
III clinical study: Zhaoke Ophthalmology successfully completed
patient recruitment of NVKO002's Phase III clinical trials in China for
myopia treatment in July 2022. Despite the challenging environment
for patient recruitment, we accomplished this milestone significantly
ahead of schedule. Furthermore, we strengthened our leading
position in the low-dose atropine market. Our partner Vyluma
announced a successful conclusion to their global Phase III clinical
study, a significant step in the lead-up to a NDA submission to
FDA. Simultaneously, we have made rapid progress with our China-
CHAMP and Mini-CHAMP Phase III studies in China. We also just
announced our first partnership agreement for NVK002 for South
Korea.

Bimatoprost Timolol ANDA approval: We received ANDA approval
for Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop (&Jl=®), our first commercialized
in-house manufactured drug targeting glaucoma, in February 2023.
The first prescription for Bimatoprost Timolol was issued on in March
2023 in Guangzhou.

Brimochol, partnership signed with Visus: We partnered
with Visus in May 2022 to in-license Brimochol, an innovative
drug asset for presbyopia. This solidifies our position as the only
ophthalmology-focused company in China with advanced programs
(Phase III or later) in three of the largest front-of-the-eye diseases:
DED, myopia, and presbyopia.

First product launch on Tmall: Zhaoke Ophthalmology launched
its first commercial product, &5 #1® the Heat Compress Eyepatch,
a category II medical device for reducing symptoms of mild cases
of dry eye, with an official flagship store on Tmall in August 2022.
This step showcases that eye diseases frequently have multifactorial
etiological mechanisms, and an optimized treatment regimen often
requires the combination of a drug and device.

Engagement with Chinese ophthalmologists: Our Boshi WeChat
account surpassed 10,000 followers in August 2022 and solidified
its position as a leading portal for Chinese ophthalmologists, with
the latest top article reading count exceeding established vertical
platforms such as International Ophthalmology Times (BIBREREIEFAN),
Mingyizhi (%%%), Ophthalmology and Optometry Observe (ER{% &
®).
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Chairman and CEO Statement

While we have launched many initiatives this year, we remain nimble and
flexible to address the changing market dynamics. Moreover, we exercise
diligence and great discipline with respect to our cash management. We
firmly believe in treating our financial resources as the foundation for
survival in a challenging capital market while accelerating growth by being
very selective towards attractive opportunities as they arise.

Several trends emerge as I glance at the evolution in healthcare.
Interactions amongst drug companies, physicians and patients are rapidly
shifting toward digital adoption. Critical advancements in areas such
as Al for imaging, natural language processing, and big data analytics
are evident. Digital solutions are becoming essential enablers for the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology value chain. In 2022, we established
a solid digital foundation and leveraged these systems to transform
our business model and processes. For example, we deployed a project
management system to entirely digitize the management of our R&D
process, thereby effectively improving the return on investment of these
projects.

Concurrently, we are actively developing innovative omnichannel
commercialization models. This manifestation can be testified in several
areas. For example, one purpose for launching £15#1® on Tmall is to establish
a digital presence for brand awareness and direct engagement with
consumers. We believe some of them will, in the long run, become end-
users of our prescription products. In addition, enhancing our brand
requires establishing powerful and effective online communication with
the ophthalmology community. Through our Boshi WeChat account, we
have observed a rapid increase in brand awareness amongst the physician
community. We are confident that this outreach and commitment to
creating and distributing cutting-edge content will strengthen our position
as the trusted partner for Chinese ophthalmologists. Collectively, we are
convinced that these initiatives will translate to the enhancement and
differentiation of Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s leadership.

Regarding our commercial enterprise, we will continue investing in
omnichannel capabilities as our sales and marketing teams expand. Our
relationships with hospitals, doctors, global partners, and new channels
continue to strengthen. In the upcoming years, the potential of significant
product launches will undoubtedly enhance and build upon brand equity.
We are introducing new features and content categories in the Boshi
WeChat account to increase interaction with younger physicians. In
addition, we are adding more product SKUs to our 1541 ® flagship store as
we believe a more comprehensive range of OTC products can boost brand
awareness for a broader range of consumers. At the same time, advancing
our in-house digital analytical capabilities will allow us to connect the
various touchpoints and increase conversion.

Besides our product launches and driving the aforementioned digital
initiatives, we continue to expand meaningful partnerships. For example,
in March 2022, we established strategic partnerships with some of
China’s leading pharmaceutical supply chain service providers, including
Sinopharm, Shanghai Pharma and China Resources Pharma, to collaborate
broadly on a range from procurement models to logistic management.

ERARITHABR RS

HARMIRAFREL DR  ERADETESE
HWREHQOEME - o) - HMBEERESERE - BE
M ERTIREARTIZRIZNER - BBEEARS
NSRRI R o

AR - BREROREEREZEBEY - EHRF) -
BAmE A ZMNESREERNRFE - ARG - BA
AERERRBES S SBENERIG\BRRRGE -
BFHARTREKAEXEREMRHEERNOBREE
E - M2022F - HMCREBFER - MRELERS
FHEARREER - fln - BRMIERE (BB ER
RoSMEnEnEE2R 8Tt ARLRSELR
BHRE DR -

R - HA—ERZAFN2REBEPMELRKA - AR
ZEEE - Pl - RARFHELREENONEP —EB K
ERMERIMELBFER  WEEETHEERE -}
MREHFIBEERESRAEMENERNLHAR
BESN - GRRR T AR TR B R AR R AL B S 58 1T B ARV AR EB
B BBEEMERY - RMRBIRERBANEALS
HEPRRIEER - HIMEE - ZBEEREERD MR
HARFGEBEBARMERTERME LN R
BVf - BMEZ  BMAELELTIER SRR
BRBIRBIRORE AL -

REELEAR  RASEEREN2RBENRAKR
HEZHEN - HABREMRERT - BE - 2B
HEFRENBER - RARRBE - HHEBERNED
ERRERLERMEES - RAERBRBERTHED
MR AR - ISR EEREANEE) - o)
HMRERBENCHEBEEMLEZHER - BREM
BEERZNENTZERA RS ERGERTHHM
B RIERA o BRI - RIIRBENEFOIEE TR
AL B PR AE TR R - A0\ HE -

RIEHESRIE FRETIEL  RPGERRES
FOBHIIE - I - 182022937 - RFEETEE
pch B BRI RS - FRRENERE
STRBBERIE - DA ARSI E YR ERE A
BENAHE -

Annual Report 2022 iR




Chairman and CEO Statement
FERITHABE RS

It is only possible to attain these accomplishments with the support of
our Shareholders. Once again, I am deeply grateful for your continuing
support. I am also highly thankful to our internal teams. They have
worked tirelessly throughout the year to significantly advance our clinical
programs and commercialization strategy amid covid-related challenges.

An essential key to success for any company is corporate culture.
Although this often takes time to build and is difficult to quantify, I am
proud of our accomplishment. Over the past two years, I have continually
emphasized the importance of a strong company culture. It is embodied
by the outstanding capabilities of our employees and our management’s
desire to constantly challenge ourselves in a collaborative, transparent
and mutually supportive manner. These cultural attributes are critical
to consistently delivering the best outcomes. I am very proud to have
witnessed extensive growth in this area.

I am also excited about our mentoring and apprenticeship programs which
have been integral to our success in 2022. In addition, we are extending
these efforts to include new initiatives, such as a rotational program for
the senior team. Our employees have passionately embraced all these
learning opportunities to build upon their experience and enhance the
value of our human capital.

We value the importance of a diverse and inclusive working environment.
Therefore, we are committed to equality in employment and advancement
opportunities for all our employees. One example concerns the number of
female employees, who currently comprise 53% of our total employees,
with 42% being managers and executives. In addition, over half of new
employees hired in the past year were females.

We are encouraged by the positive news flow regarding the improving
economic projections for China and continued strong government backing
for our industry. During the 20th National Congress of the Communist
Party of China in October 2022, President Xi’s proposal to construct a
“healthy China” was widely viewed as an indicator of healthcare as a
strategic development priority. In addition, the Chinese government
has designated three geographic areas, including the Greater Bay Area
("GBA"), as future centers of excellence for healthcare. With a state-
of-the-art manufacturing facility located in Nansha, Guangzhou, Zhaoke
Ophthalmology is one of few publicly listed healthcare companies
headquartered in the GBA. We are incredibly excited about our role in the
GBA and committed to being a leader in the region, and we believe we will
benefit from additional supportive measures from the regional and local
governments.

The market potential for managing and treating ocular disease in China
is globally unmatched and reflects a significant opportunity for specialty-
focused industry participants like Zhaoke Ophthalmology. According to
CIC, the market size of DED drugs in China is forecast to increase from
US$430 million in 2019 to US$6.7 billion in 2030, at a CAGR of 28.4%.
CIC also suggests that the market size of myopia in China is expected to
grow from US$200.0 million in 2019 to US$3.0 billion in 2030, at a CAGR
of 35.9%. China has the world’s largest number of glaucoma patients,
accounting for around 25.0% of the global total. Estimates suggest that
the market size of glaucoma drugs in China will increase significantly from
US$163.0 million in 2019 to US$2.0 billion in 2030, at a CAGR of 25.4%.
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Chairman and CEO Statement

Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s innovative drugs, such as CsA Ophthalmic Gel for
DED and NVKO002 for myopia, are nearing the final stages of development.
We focus on finding a meaningful solution for ocular diseases as rapidly as
possible with best-in-class products.

Looking forward, 2023 should be another transformative year for Zhaoke
Ophthalmology. This will be our first year with meaningful commercial
sales derived from a combination of our OTC product portfolio and the first
approved glaucoma product, Bimatoprost Timolol.

In terms of the product pipeline, we anticipate multiple milestones in
2023, led by the extremely large market opportunity with expanding
prevalent rates of disease entities in refractive error (progressive myopia
and presbyopia), DED, wAMD and others. Specifically:

o CsA Ophthalmic Gel: We look forward to making significant
progress with the NDA review process for our flagship asset,
CsA Ophthalmic Gel, ahead of the commercial launch in 2024.
In addition, we continue the dialog with FDA regarding a clinical
development pathway for CsA in the U.S. and work towards a U.S.
IND filing around the end of the year. We are also in active dialogs
with potential partners for development in Europe.

. NVKO002: We expect to complete the Mini-CHAMP clinical trial for
NVKO002 this summer. Assuming positive results and support from
the CDE, we plan to make an NDA submission using the combined
global CHAMP and Mini-CHAMP studies in China. With U.S. NDA
submission by Vyluma expected within a relatively short order,
NVKO002 continues to be well positioned to become the first clinically
proven and approved pharmaceutical product for treating myopia
progression globally.

° Glaucoma: Our glaucoma franchise, comprised of seven drugs
and one device for home-use IOP measurement, is advancing. We
anticipate making additional five to six ANDA submissions in 2023.

° Epinastine: We anticipate the completion of the Phase III clinical
trial for Epinastine, an antihistamine targeting allergic conjunctivitis
with anti-inflammatory and mast cell stabilization properties,
followed by an NDA submission.

° TABO014: We aim to complete patient recruitment for the Phase III
clinical trial for TABO14, the first clinical-stage bevacizumab-based
antibody indicated for wAMD in China.

. Brimochol: We aim to file IND for a Phase Ib/II study in China later
this year, which, if successful, will be followed by a Phase III study.

° ZKYO001: We are actively reviewing the results from three recently
completed Phase II studies (for CED, Pterygium and TPRK), and aim
to crystalize the study design this year to progress to Phase III for
this in-house developed asset.
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Chairman and CEO Statement
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In addition to identifying clear business targets for 2023, we continue to
reflect upon long-term ambitions for Zhaoke Ophthalmology. We aim to
enhance our scientific and commercial leadership in ophthalmology. We
are focused on delivering high-quality products to serve the unmet needs
of patients and ophthalmologists alike. We are committed to driving digital
innovation and building a world-class, state-of-the-art business model.
We take our social responsibilities seriously and strive to help increase
public awareness of eye diseases, including their detection and treatment
solutions. We have also started to expand our footprint outside of China,
starting with partnerships and/or presence in South Korea and South East
Asia. For our in-house development assets, we will selectively target U.S.
and European markets as well.

We have strategically and diligently laid the foundations to achieve our
vision. We are fortunate to be in a solid financial position. With prudent
financial management and guarding against complacency, we are
confident in driving our business forward to increase Shareholder value.

As we look ahead to 2023, we are confident that the composite of focus
and hard work during the last few years will result in the meaningful
evolution of our organization with increased Shareholder value. We look
forward to sharing more with you as we move into the highly anticipated
year ahead and wish you the very best of health in the coming year.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi
Chairman of the Board and CEO
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I.

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS OF THE
YEAR

O

CsA Ophthalmic Gel: In June 2022, our NDA submission for
CsA Ophthalmic Gel, an innovative drug for DED, was accepted
for review by the CDE. In January 2023, our CsA Ophthalmic
Gel successively passed the on-site regulatory and clinical
trial inspections by the NMPA, as well as the GMP compliance
inspection conducted by the Guangdong Medical Products
Administration. The passing of all three inspections marks a
major milestone in our progress toward the final regulatory
approval and commercialization of CsA Ophthalmic Gel.

NVKO002: In July 2022, Zhaoke Ophthalmology successfully
completed patient recruitment of NVK002’s Phase III clinical
trials in China for myopia treatment. Despite the challenging
environment for patient recruitment, we accomplished this
milestone significantly ahead of schedule. Furthermore, we
strengthened our leading position in the low-dose atropine
market. Vyluma announced a successful conclusion to their
global Phase III clinical study, a significant step in the lead-
up to a NDA submission to FDA. Simultaneously, we have
made rapid progress with our China-CHAMP and Mini-CHAMP
Phase III studies in China. We also just announced our first
partnership agreement for NVK002 for South Korea.

Glaucoma: Our glaucoma franchise, which currently
comprises seven drugs and one device for home-use IOP
measurement, is advancing. In November 2022, we reached
an exclusive distribution agreement to commercialize TONO-i
in Greater China for self-measurement of intraocular pressure.
In February 2023, Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop ( & Il = @),
the first generic drug of Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop for the
treatment of glaucoma/ocular hypertension in China, received
marketing authorization from the NMPA. It is also the first
drug to be commercialized in our drug pipeline. In addition,
the first prescription for Bimatoprost Timolol was issued in
March 2023.

Heat Compress Eyepatch - first commercialized
product: In August 2022, we launched our online flagship
store on Tmall with our first product © 1§ M @ the Heat
Compress Eyepatch, a class II medical device for reducing
symptoms of mild DED. The launch of this product marked the
beginning of our commercialization strategy and has enabled
us to directly engage with eye-health conscious consumers.
It also exemplifies our belief that eye diseases frequently
have multifactorial etiological mechanisms, and an optimized
treatment regimen often requires the combination of drug(s)
and device(s).

Operation Highlights

I.

LERE

REERBHE

@

BAZAREE 12022668 - ARA
R IR E /O B 3T 221 3R F R AR B BT
BHRFCREFEITPOLIEET - R
2023F1 7 @ RAEEAREBEERIBE
REEE B SR R R A IR 5
B UK ERERAEMEETERD
GMPH A RS - BB I =ITXEIZE
ERFMNEZERRE  ERMPERME
ARRSEB R SR R il -

NVKO002 : 7202247 H » JKEIBRRIAK
Ih 5 X NVKOO02 55 T11 83 £ 58 B e IR =t
BRETPENRERETE - REESE
REFEEHEERE - HERMEKLLE
BERENBHEREAELY - BE - &M
Z2E T EEBSMITRATISNB LA -
Vyluma 2 # NVK002 #) & Bk 55 111 8 &
RTINS R - FEEERFDAIRH
HEAEABIEPEE— KD - EHY R
BP9 1E B i 17 69 1 B CHAMP R /N &Y
CHAMPEIIIHAMA R #EEEE - HMIIHE
AMNVKOO2EE BN B DB iE -

BER RN SEREEERESHRL
BEY Rk —ERARERSEWAK - E
BEREESP - 20229118 © BN K
REEK—IBE MR E/LTONO-IK B R
DEHE - LBEITAZRE - R2023F2
A FEERARNAES AR SREN
BEZRERBEERRMEE -—FXER
SEARRR(SNE)BEEREER
A LT - TARMEDERTE XA
¥emsy o o - BEZBRISERNE
RERJTN2023F3 AR ©

RBIRE - BEEBFLER - 1202258
A RPN R4 LIRS R P &
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Operation Highlights
=SEME

G Presbyopia: In May 2022, we successfully established G ZER : N2022F578 © B E
an agreement with Visus Therapeutics and introduced an Visus Therapeutics 7] 3 1 #% @ I # £l
innovative drug BRIMOCHOL™ PF and Carbachol PF, to ¥ %2 %) BRIMOCHOL™ PF J% Carbachol
our portfolio. This makes us the first Chinese ophthalmic PFEIAFKMAIAEE  BRMAKATEERE
pharmaceutical company with advanced-staged (Phase III and AR - BLERAE R ZIER = KER AT R
above) drug candidates across all three major front-of-the-eye % - BIERARER (B 2 %) HiRE
diseases, namely myopia, DED and presbyopia. BEYRRBIRBENT] o

II. FINANCIAL SUMMARY II. B E

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the AEENBE=ZAMREENEEAREERE

Group for the last three financial years® is set out below: EMEOFRFAT -

Consolidated results RERE

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021 2020
20224 20214 20204
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBFT AREFT
Other income and gain, net H AN R Mz 58 8,310 34,542 62,975
R&D expenses R (296,430) (220,058) (81,779)
General and administrative expenses —M&ITHE S (86,109) (162,080) (35,002)
Selling and distribution expenses SHERD AT (28,946) (16,736) (1,542)
Interest expenses e (3,142) (1,949) (1,655)
Changes in the carrying amount of  EXREEMNEESEEH
preferred shares liability = (1,763,499) (669,978)
Loss for the year FREE (407,317) (2,129,780) (726,981)
Less: Bt
Income from licensing agreement BN N = (64,246)
Add: y//I
Changes in the carrying amount of  EBXKEEEDSENE
preferred shares liability 1,763,499 669,978
Listing expenses +TER 28,112 10,558
Equity-settled share-based payment AEZS&EE LA AEEH
expenses BB NG 46,684 109,858 14,998
Non-HKFRS adjusted loss for the &BIKRELERESHR
year® EREEO (360,633) (228,311) (95,693)
Loss per share BREE
- Basic & Diluted (RMB) —EAREE(ARE) (5.16) (4.81)

12  Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKRIBRRIERE A A



Consolidated assets and liabilities

Non-current assets EMENEE
Current assets MENEE

Total assets BEEE
Current liabilities REBAE
Non-current liabilities JEmEAE

Total liabilities afEER

Total equity/(deficit) e (B4 $a 58
Notes:

(1) The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange under Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules on April 29, 2021.

(2) Non-HKFRS adjusted net loss for the year is defined as loss and total
comprehensive income for the year adjusted by adding back non-cash
adjustments and one-time events of (i) changes in the carrying amount of
preferred shares liability in relation to the redemption amount and conversion
features for our Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares; (ii)
Listing expenses; (iii) income from licensing agreement; and (iv) equity-settled
share-based payment expenses. The above table reconciles our Non-HKFRS
adjusted net loss for the year with our loss.

Operation Highlights

HEBRERRRE

As at December 31,

=EME

RW12A831H
2022 2021 2020
20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AREETIT ARETT
597,876 396,513 312,963
1,972,747 2,208,894 913,623
2,570,623 2,605,407 1,226,586
(194,540) (89,008) (53,666)
(27,710) (20,912) (1,918,888)
(222,250) (109,920) (1,972,554)
2,348,373 2,495,487 (745,968)
Wiz
(1)  ARAFRGH202144A29RRE L HREIE+NAZ
B FER 75 o
(2)  HERHBRESEAEAREENGEFENTES ARG

EENFERZERSEEE TP MEERSHERIA
T—RUEE : ()VEARIELKREBRIELRNERD
SRLBREEEHNELEREBRRESR|NEE ; (i)
EWRISE ¢ ()R BERA - R(iv) AR A E AR
REBONHKAX - ERABFBBUBREEEHE

FRBRFREERNLE
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Zhaoke Ophthalmology is a leading ophthalmic pharmaceutical
company dedicated to the research, development, manufacturing and
commercialization of therapies that address significant unmet medical
needs in China.

China has the largest number of eye disease patients in the world, and
there is still significant unmet demand from a fast growing patient base.
We are well positioned to capture the opportunity of a rapidly growing
ophthalmology drug market, which is expected to reach approximately
US$11 billion in 2027, according to the information from CIC, driven by
market demand and new supportive public policies in the healthcare sector
in the PRC.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s drug portfolio is one of the largest and most
comprehensive in the ophthalmology industry, with innovative and generic
treatments covering major diseases affecting both the front- and back-
of-the-eye. In portfolio construction, we aim to strike a balance between
being a “one-stop solutions provider” for ophthalmologists and focusing
most of our precious resources on areas with the largest unmet needs
and commercial potential. We are the only ophthalmology company in
China with advanced programs, Phase III or later, in all three of the
largest front-of-the-eye diseases: being DED, myopia, and presbyopia.
We have several potential blockbuster innovative drug candidates in the
pipeline, which we believe will be best-in-class or first-in-class, and make
a significant contribution to our future revenue.

We are committed to our goal of becoming a leader in ophthalmology
in China and globally and have made remarkable achievements in
advancing our key clinical programs. During 2022, we filed two NDA
submissions, including one of our Core Products, CsA Ophthalmology Gel,
for the treatment of DED, strengthened our position in the vast market
for the progression of myopia, and initiated our coverage in presbyopia
by introducing an innovative drug, and received ANDA approval for
Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop (&N =®), our first commercialized in-house
manufactured drug targeting glaucoma.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A

Management Discussion and Analysis

E 3 E)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Ahead of the launch of & JlZ=® and other innovative and generics products
in the next two to three years, Zhaoke Ophthalmology has developed a
robust commercialization strategy centered around an omnichannel model
with multiple touchpoints with our key constituents across our online
channels, including a WeChat account with high levels of ophthalmologist
and eye health community engagement, as well as traditional offline
channels through our experienced sales teams and partnerships with
hospitals. In addition, we also launched our first commercialized product
in 2022, the heat compress eyepatch &/5#1®, which is a class II medical
device for patients with mild DED.

This marked our progress from a pure R&D company to a commercial
pharmaceutical company. With the approval and launch of our first
commercialized drug targeting glaucoma, Bimatoprost Timolol, as well as
more OTC products to be included in our Tmall flagship and physical points
of sales, the year ahead will help us further increase the brand awareness
and accumulate experiences for the commercialization of the Company’s
robust drug pipeline, including the self-developed innovative treatment for
DED, CsA Ophthalmic Gel and our innovative drug for myopia, NVK002.

At Zhaoke Ophthalmology, our vision is to be persistently patient- and
physician-centric, harnessing our scientific rigor, and the large innovative
and generic drug portfolio that we have built to address the major eye
conditions affecting both the front- and back-of-the-eye. Our objective is
to eliminate as far as possible all preventable eye diseases and contribute
significantly to the visual health of millions of patients in China and
globally. We are focused on delivering high-quality products to serve the
unmet needs of patients and ophthalmologists. We are also committed to
driving innovation via a state-of-the-art digitally enabled business model.
We take our social responsibilities seriously and aim to help increase
public awareness of eye diseases, including their detection and treatment
solutions.

B E s am M

FE AR R PR 22 = 6 HE 1 R D155 © DA e L At R R 48 e {77 U %
Z Al KRRBIE HIET R RABERCRE - BRE2RE
B ER ETRENTERERYZEEBRS - B
ﬁﬁﬁﬂ A RRBEREMHESE2ENMERS - T8
BEBREENHEERRAERR T REERRAE
eSS %dFﬁJTE’\\ZOZZE?Eﬁ BREECERRFUCR
BWIRE - DHREEERRESDEEMANE _RBESEW -

PLER IR E RPN CHERRRESREREN
Al BERMERHEE RN ELEYE EZERIG
BB RED  URFLIEEHERBARMRRM
EEEREREEE  REEEPRME—TRSH
RAE - WEEARARRBNEYEREELOLER
BLIE B 1TRIE A AT 72 BRIE B3R TR R AR R B K B 4FS
K BIFT AR ZEYINVKOO2 °
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEEaTim Mo

EFmHES

Our product pipeline is set out below as of the Latest Practicable Date: UTEFERMAREERAITEHRNERELR :

Our Portfolio

A (pL:ob-TEoE

Our Innovation Drugs

Drug Candidate Commercial Rights Preclinical Phase II Phase III
5 ) EE 2 BR PR Al £
Cyclosporine A (CsA
Oéhthglmic Ge|( ) fa HRAOKE Global China  #1E n-site and clinical inspections and GMP inspections
EHEARRE & omvmimvocoar 32 it R ERARSIRTUS RS AR GMP FA RS
NTCO010 (levofloxacin
dexamethasone
combination) 2% nte China
NTCO/lq Qv i Certain Countries of the EU: Commercialized (NTC and Santen) # FEUEEIR : #%(L(NTC i Santen)
(ZEFPEE
HIRAKIMETT)
Rorn and ASEAN "
NVK002 (Atropine) Korea and ASEAN! Lt -
NVKO02 (FTH.5) Vyluma KNER  EERETHS USi Prla"se I trial u.zp-lirle resnjlts announoeszfyluma, pr\eviously known as Nevakar)
EES EE : 2 I ARIERERE A (Vyluma - 778 Nevakar)
TAB014 (Bevacizumab) China . _
TABOL4 (BB Vordiii LU
ZKYO001 (Functional . .
fragment of Thymosin p4) Ka HRAOKE a;ecaatfr china excluding n =
e A e G
R &) -
BRIMOCHOL™ PF and Greater China, South ...
Carbachol PF VISUS Korea and ASEAN’ | China
BRIMOCHOL™ PF : Kp#m mFRksTERE US: Phase III trial ongoing (Visus) M : 5 IIl #5174 (Visus)
Carbachol PF Exe
NTCO14 (levofloxacin Greater China, SOUtN meserarmm————m————— — — — — — — — — — — — o
and ketorolac %t Korea and Asean:  IEIDNEEEED T CCTIIT 2
trometamol combination) “n C AhEE - BHEREFRE EU: Preclinical (NTC)
NTCO14(EAFN 2 a5e B : ERARAT (NTC)
RN EE R T e )
Resolv ER (Liposome - .
loaded urea) i;e;:;'; China and
Resolv ER Pharmaceuticals T i . US: Phase Ib trial ongoing (Kato) = : &8 Ib HisliiEr T (Kato)
(feEeRE) AEERRETRERR!
1C-270 (Syk inhibitor and Greater China and
antihistamine) — -
1C-270(Syk B E B £ s R |5 12 (5T
0B FHUAR R 58) RPERRETRABEER S0 + BT (IACTA)
RGN-259 .
(Thymosin B4) REGENERX ir::az;:; China
RGN-259(fafRikp4)
Aoy Greater Chinaand EEEEEE» - « T TTTTTTTTTTTTo S
IC-265 (Syk inhibitor) | A A ~TA | oneeana R o ____ -
IC-265((Syyk E%‘f\@%?%ﬂﬁﬁ) @ |P » E:J; N ASEAN* US: Phase II trial completed in allergic conjunctivitis (IACTA)
) = APERREFTREER X6 BEIEEBIE I HRB5ER (ACTA)
PAN-90806 (VEGFR2 Greater China, South
inhibitor) PAN(PTICA | Korea and ASEAN: T
PAN-90806 AEE  MBENLETHE  US: Phase I/II trial completed (PanOptica) Bl : & I/I1 ¥izt8 52k (PanOptica)
(VEGFR2 #I) B
CsA/Rebamipide
Ophthalmic Gel a Global
\ ZHROKE
HIE A HERE (CEatnn e GG
BRAEE
Global
AT iz |
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EREH BB

& May not require a Phase I clinical trial prior to initiating a Phase II clinical trial. & BB IIERRIR AR Z AT AT RN B TR IR AR -
£ May not require a Phase I and/or Phase II clinical trials prior to initiating a B EREN SIS R B8R 2 AT Al B iR BT TR I NS
Phase III clinical trial. ITHRER R (58 o
(1)  Including Brunei, Myanmar (Burma), Cambodia, Timor-Leste, Indonesia, Laos, (1) PEXHK- A6 RER - ZHX - HNERAE - 2
Malaysia, the Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam B BRAD -« JEERE - HIE - REIRE
(2)  Including Brunei, Cambodia, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar (Burma), the (2) BFEXH - RpE - NEEAE - EB - SREE A
Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam A JEERE - MK - RERWE
(3) Including Brunei, Cambodia, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar (Burma), the (3) BIEXFK - REE- -DEEHADE - EB - SRED -
Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, Vietnam and Sri Lanka IR I =F  BEREEE
Our Generic Drugs AP Y {7 Bl
Drug Candidate Indication MOA
1RE L) BIEE e
Bimatoprost Glaucoma . PGA monotherapy
e e Bk Lumigan PGA% — %
Bimatoprost Timolol Glaucoma Ganfort PGA and B blocking agent combotherapy
EES S Vo] FRER PGAK B B MBI A BUA
Latanoprost Glaucoma Xalatan PGA monotherapy
A FTFIER FRER PGAE—&%
Latanoprost Timolol Glaucoma Xalacom PGA and B blocking agent combotherapy
AN FARER PGALBF B MBI & FUA
Travoprost Glaucoma PGA monotherapy
HRBIFIE Bk Travatan PGATE—FU%
Travoprost Timolol Glaucoma DuoTrav PGA and B blocking agent combotherapy
RS AR PGALBZ B MBI & FUA
Levobetaxolol HCI Glaucoma Betaxon Monotherapy B blocker
R BB AR E—RURHBRBENE
Epinastine HCI Allergic conjunctivitis Elestat Dual-acting antihistamine and mast cell stabilizers
BERSARITHTT B AERRA AR B R A BB A
Natamycin Fungal eye infections Antifungal
A RAPEMSR Netacyn e
Proparacaine HCI Surface anesthesia Alcaine Block nerve conduction in the corneal tissue
BERERR R EF PELE A IR AR A b A 22
Povidone Iodine Periocular and ocular surface disinfection Betadine Microbicidal/Antimicrobial action by iodine
B ERn BRERREZEE HMERE  EER
Fluorescein Sodium Diagnostic for certain eye injuries L . . Fluorescent dye
ohye prepitttysve Minims fluorescein sodium S
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEEaTim Mo

Pipeline Strategy

Zhaoke Ophthalmology has established a comprehensive asset portfolio
with innovative and generic drugs that address the six major eye diseases
across both the front-and back-of-the-eye. The six major ophthalmic
indications in terms of the market potential in China are DED, myopia,
presbyopia, wAMD, DME and glaucoma. We have chosen multiple drug
candidates to address these diseases, as we believe this is the best way to
treat their multiple and complex underlying causes.

Innovative drugs

Our Company has several key potential blockbuster innovative drugs in
the pipeline for the next few years.

CsA Ophthalmic Gel for DED (self-developed)
Overview

CsA Ophthalmic Gel is an innovative drug being developed by Zhaoke
Ophthalmology for the treatment of DED. It is a single, daily dose hydrogel
that eliminates daytime administration and the associated discomfort
and inconvenience, and aims to dramatically improve patients’ treatment
compliance and quality of life. The proprietary hydrogel formulation is
protected with patent approval in China and internationally. This novel
formulation enhances the pharmacokinetic profiles of CsA on the ocular
surface, allowing efficacy similar to that of Cyclosporine A products
currently available for DED. However, unlike the current treatment, CsA
Ophthalmic Gel’s unique formulation stays on the eye for longer, requiring
only once-a-day dosing (compared with traditional twice-a-day dosing). In
Phase III clinical trial, the treatment also showed a faster onset of action
by demonstrating efficacy at around the two-week time period.

Updates during the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date

On June 8, 2022, the NDA submission for CsA Ophthalmic Gel was
accepted for review by the CDE.

On January 31, 2023, CsA Ophthalmic Gel passed the on-site regulatory
and clinical trial inspections by the NMPA, and the GMP compliance
inspection conducted by the Guangdong Medical Products Administration.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology continues to target regulatory approval and
commercialization of CsA Ophthalmic Gel in China in early 2024. Given the
prevalence of DED globally and the differentiated profile of CsA Ophthalmic
Gel, the Company is also exploring opportunities outside of China.
Specifically, the Company will continue the dialog with the FDA regarding
a clinical development pathway for CsA in the U.S. with the aim of getting
into the position for U.S. IND filing around the end of 2023.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

NVKO002 (Atropine) for Myopia (partnered with Vyluma)

Overview

To date, low concentration atropine is the only medication that is
consistently effective in myopia progression control among children and
adolescents. Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s NVK002 is currently positioned as
the first clinically proven pharmaceutical product approved for treating
the progression of myopia globally. This treatment has a proprietary
formulation that successfully addresses the instability of low-concentration
atropine, with patent protection in the U.S. as well as in China, and is
preservative-free with an expected shelf life of over 24 months.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s licensing partner for NVK002 is Vyluma, a wholly
owned subsidiary of U.S.-based Nevakar Inc. Vyluma has successfully
completed the Phase III clinical trial for NVK0O2 in the U.S. and EU and
announced encouraging top-line results of the three-year trial in October
2022.

In September 2021, Zhaoke Ophthalmology received approval from the
CDE to initiate two concurrent Phase III clinical trials, including a two-year
Phase III clinical trial (*China CHAMP") and a one-year Phase III bridging
trial ("Mini-CHAMP") in China.

The China CHAMP trial is led by Professor Wang Ningli from Beijing
Tongren Hospital as the principal investigator and involves 19 centers and
777 patients. The Mini-CHAMP trial is jointly led by Professor Qu Xiaomei
from the Eye and ENT Hospital of Fudan University and Professor Yang
Xiao from the Zhongshan Ophthalmic Center of Sun Yat-Sen University as
principal investigators and involves 18 centers and 526 patients.

Combined with global data from Vyluma’s Phase III clinical trial (CHAMP)
in the U.S. and EU, we believe the overall CHAMP trial for NVK002 will be
one of the largest, longest and most comprehensive Phase III clinical trials
for low dose atropine use in the world.

Updates during the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date

Patient recruitment was completed significantly earlier than expected
across both NVKO0O02 trials in China, giving our Company a strong head
start in moving towards its goal of becoming one of the first companies to
commercialize myopia progression treatment in China and beyond, despite
the challenging COVID-19 environment in 2022.

The China CHAMP trial completed enrolment on July 21, 2022, two months
ahead of schedule; while the Mini-CHAMP trial completed enrolment on
July 28, 2022, three months ahead of schedule.

B E s am M

NVKOO2 ([ #am) + FAREZEAE(EVyluma
&1E)

=3
=

EREMERE R A — AR EABEHIRER S
FUARINREEEY) - JKBLARFHHINVKO02 B BRI E (LA
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In March 2023, we entered into a distribution and supply agreement on
NVK002 with Kwangdong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. ("KDP”), a Korean-
based company principally engaged in the manufacturing and distribution
of pharmaceutical products. Under the terms of the agreement, KDP
was granted exclusive rights to import, promote, distribute, market, and
sell NVK002 in South Korea. Such partnership marked we have taken a
concrete step towards expanding our global footprint, while creating new
business opportunities as well as developing new revenue streams for our
Group.

We expect to complete the one-year Mini-CHAMP bridging trial of NVK002
in the second half of 2023, and the two-year China CHAMP trial in the
second half of 2024. Zhaoke Ophthalmology is well-positioned as one of
the first companies to commercialize a myopia drug in the mainland China
market, with a widened lead, particularly if we are able to combine the
data from Mini-CHAMP and those from the successful Phase III clinical
study conducted by our partner Vyluma for NDA submission.

BRIMOCHOL™ PF and Carbachol PF (partnered with Visus)

Overview

BRIMOCHOL™ PF and Carbachol PF are pupil-modulating eye drops
designed to be once-daily, preservative-free therapeutics to correct the
loss of near vision associated with presbyopia. BRIMOCHOL™ PF is a fixed-
dose combination of carbachol (a cholinergic agent) and brimonidine
tartrate (an alpha-2 agonist). Carbachol PF is a proprietary, preservative-
free formulation of carbachol monotherapy. Both investigational therapies
reduce the size of the pupil resulting in a “pinhole effect” so that only
centrally focused light rays are able to enter the eye, thereby sharpening
both near and intermediate images.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s licensing partner for Brimochol is Visus, a
clinical-stage pharmaceutical company focused on developing innovative
ophthalmic therapies with offices in Seattle, Washington, and Irvine,
California. In Visus’ Phase II study, VIVID, both formulations met primary
and secondary endpoints, demonstrating a three-line improvement in
near visual acuity with no loss of distant vision for up to nine hours. Both
BRIMOCHOL™ PF and Carbachol PF were well tolerated with no serious
adverse events. Visus is currently conducting Phase III pivotal trials.

Concurrent with the ongoing Phase III clinical study of BRIMOCHOL™ PF
and Carbachol PF in the U.S., Zhaoke Ophthalmology plans to file IND
for a Phase Ib/II study in China in late 2023 which, if successful, will be
followed by a Phase III study.
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TAB014 (Bevacizumab) for wAMD (partnered with TOT
BIOPHARM)

Overview

TABO14 is the first clinical-stage bevacizumab-based antibody indicated
for wAMD in China. Bevacizumab is a clinically validated anti-VEGF drug.
Globally, bevacizumab is approved for oncology treatment through
intravenous infusion. However, there has been increasing off-label use of
bevacizumab via intravitreal injection for the treatment of wAMD.

Updates during the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date

In March 2022, Zhaoke Guangzhou, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and TOT BIOPHARM Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of
TOT BIOPHARM, entered into a supplemental agreement, pursuant to
which Zhaoke Guangzhou now has full control in the execution of clinical
trials and the ultimate decision-making power in the development and
commercialization of TABO14 in China, Hong Kong and Macau. Zhaoke
Guangzhou has also been given the right to develop TABO14 for other
ophthalmic indications besides wAMD and/or novel formulations for
ophthalmic indications.

We recruited the first patient for the Phase III clinical trial on June 28,
2022, and expect to complete patient recruitment before the end of 2023.

The Phase III clinical trial of TABO14 is a randomized, double-blind and
non-inferiority study. The main objective of the study is to evaluate
the change from baseline in best corrected visual acuity at week 52 in
TABO14-treated subjects group compared with the Lucentis®-treated
subjects group. The study involves approximately 60 centers and a total
of 488 patients, led by Professor Chen Youxin from Peking Union Medical
College Hospital as the principal investigator.

ZKY001 (self-developed)
Overview

ZKY001 is a seven-amino acid peptide derived from the functional
fragment of Thymosin B4 that binds actin, a type of protein that plays a
central role in cell structure and movement. ZKY0O1 has broad applications
in the healing of corneal wounds and can potentially be used in multiple
corneal repair indications. Zhaoke Ophthalmology has been exploring
multiple indications for ZKY001, including CED; TPRK, a surgical treatment
for myopia; pterygium, a growth in the cornea or the conjunctiva; and NK,
a rare degenerative corneal disease.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology has conducted Phase II clinical trials of ZKY001
for CED, TPRK and Pterygium and an investigator initiated trial for NK.
The research and clinical teams aim to analyze all the results across these
studies to determine the direction for development of this asset and next
steps.
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NTCO10 (Partnered with NTC)
Overview

NTCO010 is a fixed dose combination of antibiotics and steroids to prevent
infection and inflammation for patients undergoing cataract surgery. The
drug belongs to a new generation of antibiotics, which increase efficiency
and cover a wider range of bacteria. The drug also shortens the duration
of the treatment by half - from 14 to seven days - making it beneficial to
patients’ overall health and helping to prevent antibiotic overuse.

The drug has already been approved across the EU and in 15 extra-
Europe countries/areas and is expected to be further rolled out across
extra-Europe countries. According to the information from CIC, NTC010 is
the first eye drop product marketed in the EU that combines a quinolone
antibiotic with an anti-inflammatory steroid.

The Company submitted an NDA in conjunction with a clinical trial
exemption based on the existing European clinical data to the NMPA in
November 2022.

PAN-90806 (VEGFRZ inhibitor) for wAMD and DME (partnered
with PanOptica)

Overview

PAN-90806 is an innovative drug indicated in the treatment of wAMD, as
well as DME, the leading cause of blindness in diabetic patients worldwide.

PAN-90806 is a novel eye drop formulation. The goal is to be applied as
a maintenance therapy in order to reduce the frequency of intravitreal
injections and other treatment issues associated with mainstream anti-
VEGF therapies while at the same time maintaining visual stability. If
successful, the use of PAN-90806 is expected to significantly reduce
treatment discontinuation, and therefore slow underlying disease
progression through improved patient comfort, acceptance, convenience
and compliance.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology is currently focused on optimizing the formulation

of PAN-90806. The Company plans to file IND for patient trials after the
completion of requisite animal studies.
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Generic drugs

We follow a balanced approach in designing our drug pipeline. In addition
to innovative drug candidates, our Company has several key generic drugs
in the pipeline. The market potential for the management and treatment
of ocular disease in China is unmatched globally. Generic drugs address
a substantial portion of current ophthalmic medical needs in China.
From a market demand perspective, our generic pipeline complements
our innovative pipeline and positions us to provide total solutions to
ophthalmologists and patients.

We made meaningful progress across our generic programs in the
Reporting Period. In particular, we obtained marketing authorization from
the NMPA in February 2023 for Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop, known as &
JIZ® in the PRC and researched, developed and manufactured by us, for
the treatment of glaucoma.

Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop (F#&J1=®) is used to lower the IOP in patients
with primary open-angle glaucoma or ocular hypertension who do not
respond sufficiently to B-blockers or PGA. It is the first generic drug of
Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop for the treatment of glaucoma or ocular
hypertension in China.

Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop (& Il =©®) is also our Company'’s first drug
approved for commercialization. The first prescription for this drug was
written on March 8, 2023 in Guangzhou. The launch of this product will
help expand brand recognition of Zhaoke Ophthalmology to support the
future commercial launch of our innovative drugs.

We also aim to file ANDA submissions for various candidates in our generic
drug pipeline this year in glaucoma and other areas.

WARNING UNDER RULE 18A.08(3) OF THE LISTING RULES: WE
MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY DEVELOP AND MARKET OUR
DRUG CANDIDATES SUCCESSFULLY.
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Manufacturing

Zhaoke Ophthalmology has its own state-of-the-art manufacturing
facility, located in Nansha New District, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province,
China. This facility gives us the strategic advantage of full manufacturing
capability inhouse, from production, dosing, filling and packaging to
quality assurance. The facility occupies approximately 7,600 sq.m.
with equipment and machinery from leading global manufacturers. It
is designed in accordance with the highest international standards and
requirements of major global regulators, including the FDA, the NMPA and
the EMA. The facility currently has three manufacturing lines which are all
ready for mass production.

In February 2023, our Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop ( & Ul = ®) obtained
marketing authorization in China from the NMPA. This eye drop will be
manufactured in our manufacturing facility.

As Zhaoke Ophthalmology transforms from a pure R&D to a commercial
pharmaceutical company, we have increased investment in our production
facility to expand production capacity. For example, our production
capacity for single dose drugs has already increased tenfold since its
inception.

Commercialization

Having the right people in place to support commercialization is critical.
Following the ANDA approval of our Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop (&I E®),
our Company is planning to expand our sales and marketing team from 45
people as at the end of 2022, to over 100 as at the end of 2023.

To prepare for the upcoming commercialization of our drug candidates, we
have also established an omnichannel strategy leveraging both online and
offline channels.

We recognize the rapidly shifting dynamics of the Chinese ophthalmic
industry and believe that the traditional way of selling drugs must be
complemented by new channels such as digital, social and e-commerce.
Our innovative model does not rely solely on traditional channels such as
public hospitals and private eye hospitals or institutions, but also builds
brand visibility in the digital world through our innovative use of WeChat,
the most commonly used mobile application in China, and other online
platforms.
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Since its launch in September 2021, our content-driven platform on
WeChat, Zhaoke Boshi, has been growing rapidly. Zhaoke Boshi lends
a stage to leading KOLs in the industry to share their knowledge and
insights, while facilitating discussion amongst the broader Chinese
ophthalmic community. As of the Latest Practicable Date, Zhaoke Boshi
has over 11,000 followers and over 60 leading KOLs and ophthalmologists
have contributed content or participated in livestream discussions. We
believe that this outreach will help solidate our position as the trusted
partner for Chinese ophthalmologists and continue to differentiate and
enhance Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s leadership in the industry.

In addition to building a digital community on WeChat, Zhaoke
Ophthalmology launched a Tmall flagship store for our first commercialized
product & 1§ # © heat compress eyepatch on August 15, 2022. This
eyepatch is an approved class II medical device for people with mild DED.

The successful launch of the product has strategic meaning for our
Company as it exemplifies our core mission in two major significant
areas. Firstly, many eye diseases are caused by multiple and complex
pathogenic pathways, meaning that a single treatment may not always
suffice. Although our R&D efforts will primarily focus on ophthalmic drugs,
we believe a combination of drug regimen therapy and medical device
will ultimately deliver better treatment options for patients. As such, our
£ 15 1 © heat compress eyepatch is considered as a companion therapy
for patients suffering from differing degrees of DED. We will continue
this approach across multiple indications and opportunistically engage
with potential partners to deliver diagnostic and therapeutic solutions
alongside our drug assets. We are confident that this strategy will provide
a meaningful benefit to patients and ophthalmologists over the short and
long term.

Secondly, the launch of our Tmall flagship store and the heat compress
eyepatch enables us to establish brand awareness directly amongst eye-
health-conscious consumers in China. This lays a solid foundation for our
Company ahead of the commercialization of our drugs.

R&D

Although our business encountered broad and macro challenges in 2022,
we remained focused on R&D as the backbone, and we were able to
significantly progress our R&D efforts during the Reporting Period.

The surge of COVID-19 cases in China in 2022 negatively affected various
aspects of the ongoing clinical trials of our drug assets including patient
recruitment. However, thanks to the effort and determination of our
teams, we were able to broadly maintain the pace of our clinical programs.
In fact, patient recruitment of the two concurrent Phase III trials of
NVKO002 was completed significantly ahead of schedule.
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Our R&D team has a time-tested track record and is led by an international
management team with decades of industry experience working in global
biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. In 2022, we increased the
size of our R&D team, from approximately 80 professionals in 2021, to
100 at the end of the Reporting Period.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, our R&D expenses totaled
approximately RMB296.4 million, showing an increase of approximately
34.7% from approximately RMB220.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2021.

Partnerships

Zhaoke Ophthalmology has established multiple licensing partnerships
with leading companies in China, the U.S. and the EU, and will continue to
build our global footprint.

In February 2022, Zhaoke Ophthalmology established a corporate gift
agreement with John Hopkins University, one of the world’s leading
private research institutes, to support translational research and academic
exchange. The donation will be used to benefit the Johns Hopkins” Wilmer
Eye Institute as a current use gift over the coming year, supporting
translational research at the Institute, academic exchanges and mentoring
opportunities between Zhaoke Ophthalmology and the Wilmer Eye
Institute.

In March 2022, Zhaoke Ophthalmology signed strategic partnership
agreements with three of China’s leading pharmaceutical supply chain
service providers: Sinopharm, Shanghai Pharmaceuticals and China
Resources Pharmaceutical. Zhaoke Ophthalmology and the three
leading Chinese pharmaceutical companies will collaborate on multiple
aspects including but not limited to procurement models and logistics
management. These collaborations will be critical to our distribution
capabilities as a commercial-stage company.

We will continue to explore partnership and collaboration opportunities
with leading domestic and international pharmaceutical firms and research
institutions, thereby strengthening our R&D capability and expanding
our drug portfolio, particularly in areas where we see white space in our
current coverage of key ophthalmic indications. We will also have the
chance to explore partnerships as we expand our footprint to adjacent
country markets.
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Environment, Social and Governance ("ESG”)

As a responsible enterprise, Zhaoke Ophthalmology is committed to the
development of a sustainable healthcare industry in China. We rigorously
monitor the environmental and social impact of our operations and
implement measures to improve the sustainability of our business.

We clearly define the ESG responsibilities of the Board and senior
management and have established a sustainability steering committee to
assist the Board in its management and supervision of the progress and
results of relevant initiatives.

As an example, since China’s announcement of its national target to
achieve carbon neutrality by 2060, our Company has taken steps to reduce
its carbon emissions. To effectively manage the risks and opportunities
brought on by climate change, our Company has devised its own climate
change policy and nurtured a top-down management culture to tackle
the impact of climate change on the environment from five perspectives,
namely governance, mitigation, adaptation, resistance and disclosure.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology has also invested in building a strong corporate
culture and working environment within our Company for our people
to continue to grow and develop their capabilities. Our mentoring and
apprenticeship programs have been integral to our success in 2022 and
illustrate the passion of our people to build the experience and know-how
of their colleagues, and to ensure that our huge array of experience is
shared across all of our teams wherever possible. Our Company supports
a diverse and inclusive working environment and is committed to equal
employment and advancement opportunities for all people. As at the
end of the Reporting Period, about 53% of our total employees were
women, with 42% of them managers and executives. Over half of our new
employees hired in the past year were female.

We take our social responsibilities seriously and aim to address the urgent
unmet need to increase public awareness of eye diseases, including their
detection and treatment solutions. For example, during World Glaucoma
Week in March 2022, we initiated the “Glaucoma Commonweal Campaign”,
inviting well-known glaucoma ophthalmologists in China for live streaming
to improve public’s awareness of early screening of glaucoma and rational
administration for better glaucoma management. On June 6, 2022, we
ran the “National Eyecare Day Commonweal Campaign” jointly with
influential ophthalmic KOLs to raise the public’s awareness of children and
adolescents in myopia control on various local TV channels and digital
platforms.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology is committed to transparency and compliance,
disclosing our ESG performance annually in our ESG report.
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FUTURE AND OUTLOOK

2023 should be another transformative year for Zhaoke Ophthalmology.
At the beginning of this year, we announced that our self-developed
innovative drug CsA Ophthalmic Gel, passed the onsite inspections
and clinical inspections conducted by the NMPA and GMP inspection
by the Guangdong Medical Products Administration. Shortly after that,
in February 2023, our generic treatment for glaucoma, Bimatoprost
Timolol eye drop obtained the marketing authorization from the NMPA.
Together with the launch of our heat compress eyepatch on our Tmall
flagship store in August 2022, these milestones mark the transformation
of Zhaoke Ophthalmology from a pure R&D company into a commercial
pharmaceutical company.

Looking forward, we remain committed to our ambitious “dual-engine”
growth strategy, which includes the advancement of clinical programs
of our innovative and generic drug assets, and the execution of our
comprehensive and innovative commercialization model leveraging both
online and offline channels. We will also continue to explore mutually
value-creating partnership opportunities with domestic and international
organizations to support our goal to improve the visual health of people
globally.

Regarding our commercial enterprise, we will continue to invest in
omnichannel capabilities and sales marketing team to support our vision
as we head into 2023. We strongly believe that combining multiple offline
channels and interactions with physicians with online/social presence and
e-commerce will be a paradigm shift in commercialization, and is key to
future success.

Our content-driven WeChat account Zhaoke Boshi has created a dynamic
conversation online around cutting-edge research and treatment for
eye diseases amongst ophthalmologists. Having firmly established its
reputation with high quality content, we are introducing new features and
content categories in Zhaoke Boshi to increase interaction with younger
physicians. We are excited to witness the growing influence of this online
platform and the enhancement of our brand awareness amongst the
physician community.

At the same time, we are adding more product SKUs to our #® 5 %1 @
flagship store on Tmall as we believe a more comprehensive range of OTC
products can boost brand awareness for a broader range of consumers,
some of whom we believe will undoubtedly become end-users of our
prescription products. We are convinced that these efforts will enhance
and further differentiate Zhaoke's leadership.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of the product pipeline, we anticipate multiple milestones in
2023, led by the extremely large market opportunity with expanding
prevalent rates of disease entities in refractive error (progressive myopia
and presbyopia), DED, wAMD and others. Specifically:

. CsA Ophthalmic Gel: We look forward to making significant
progress with the NDA review process for our flagship product,
CsA Ophthalmic Gel, ahead of the commercial launch in 2024.
In addition, we continue the dialog with FDA regarding a clinical
development pathway for CsA in the U.S. and work towards a IND
filing around the end of the year. We are also in active dialogs with
potential partners for development in the EU.

o NVKO002: We expect to complete the Mini-CHAMP clinical trial
for NVK002 this summer. Assuming positive results and support
from the CDE, we plan to make an NDA submission using the
combined global CHAMP and Mini-CHAMP studies in China. With
U.S. NDA submission by Vyluma expected within a relatively short
order, NVK002 continues to be well positioned to become the first
clinically proven and approved pharmaceutical product for treating
myopia progression globally.

. Glaucoma: Our glaucoma franchise, comprised of seven drugs
and one device for home-use IOP measurement, is advancing. We
anticipate making additional five to six ANDA submissions in 2023.

° Epinastine: We anticipate the completion of the Phase III clinical
trial for Epinastine, an antihistamine targeting allergic conjunctivitis
with anti-inflammatory and mast cell stabilization properties,
followed by an ANDA submission.

° TABO014: We aim to complete patient recruitment for the Phase III
clinical trial for TABO14, the first clinical-stage bevacizumab-based
antibody indicated for wAMD in China.

° Brimochol: We aim to file IND for a Phase Ib/II study in China
later this year, which, if successful, will be followed by a Phase III
study.

° ZKY001: We are actively reviewing the results from three recently

completed Phase II studies (for CED, Pterygium and TPRK), and
aim to crystalize the study design to progress to Phase III for this
in-house developed asset.

In 2022, Zhaoke Ophthalmology continued its focus on prudent cash
management. As at the end of the Reporting Period, we had RMB1,716.4
million cash or cash equivalents and time deposits, giving Zhaoke
Ophthalmology a robust position from which to continue advancing the
clinical programs of our innovative and generic drug candidates, and to
further invest in our commercialization model as we prepare to launch
further drugs.
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Moving into 2023, we are encouraged by positive sentiment particularly
in Hong Kong and the PRC. As indicated by the National Eye Health Plan
included as part of the “Fourteenth Five-Year Plan for National Economic
and Social Development of the PRC and the Outline of Vision Goals for
2035 (FEARAMBERGENCSEES TUERFREM2035F 8% B 12H
Z)”, we are encouraged to see ophthalmology as a key focus area for the
Chinese government as part of the overall development of the healthcare
sector. At the same time, we are pleased to see that the Chinese
government has designated three geographic areas as future centers of
excellence for healthcare, including the Greater Bay Area, home to Zhaoke
Ophthalmology’s state-of-art manufacturing facility.

2023 marks the beginning of a new chapter for Zhaoke Ophthalmology.
Through our team’s continued hard work and dedication, we will see our
product pipeline, commercial infrastructure, ophthalmologic community
engagement and key partnerships coming together to deliver a truly
transformative year. These efforts are continually inspired by the pursuit
of our goal to address significant unmet medical needs across different
eye diseases to improve public visual health through scientific research as
quickly as possible.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

BAA2023%F » iERF LEREENPE) S H IR
55 ER[TEARANBERERECENLSEHRE T
BERFHREM2035FERBRME |h2BIREER
2 BMELRMK AT EBFERREITERRNE
MEE 2 — o BRI - HAIMEIRRBISOHEER

Rtz — o

2023FRABEIKRIREUBFH — & - HAIWE B —10
BEfE - BATME - IBRPTEE - BRAFNEERER
EEEE BRHURS2ERTIEBHBETERNY
o BLETENTR-BERREMPTERNE R : $H8
TRBEMEREZEFRRA - FIARHARREELR
B SRR ©

Bt %5 o1 B8

Year ended December 31,

BZE12A31ALFE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT

Other income HAA 38,041 21,133
Other net (loss)/gain Hith (B518), W F5 (29,731) 13,409
R&D expenses EEmR (296,430) (220,058)
General and administrative expenses —RRITEHER (86,109) (162,080)
Selling and distribution expenses THE RO HFAX (29,946) (16,736)
Interest expenses FEMAZ (3,142) (1,949)
Changes in the carrying amount of preferred BEREENRRCEY

shares liability = (1,763,499)
Loss for the year FREE (407,317) (2,129,780)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMZEUE
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to ~ HEEAEEHHDEEIEEMIER ¢

profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of financial BENEEEEITIEAREH TR EHRED

statements of entities with functional b =R

currencies other than RMB 210,902 (51,191)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRhZHKFZHALE (196,415) (2,180,971)
Non-HKFRS Measures FEBUMBHREENTELRN
Adjusted loss for the year EREFNER (360,633) (228,311)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Overview

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we recorded total loss of
approximately RMB407.3 million, as compared with approximately
RMB2,129.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, mainly
due to the changes in the carrying amount of preferred shares liability
in relation to the redemption amount and conversion features for the
Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares, before they
were converted into ordinary Shares on the Listing Date being no longer
recognized in 2022. Our R&D expenses for the year ended December 31,
2022 were approximately RMB296.4 million, representing an increase
of approximately 34.7% from approximately RMB220.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to the increased expenses
incurred for clinical trials and R&D activities for our key innovative
products, including Phase III clinical trial for NVK002 and three Phase II
clinical trials of ZKY001 for CED, TPRK and Pterygium and an investigator
initiated trial for NK, a rare degenerative corneal disease, during the
Reporting Period.

Other Income

The Group’s other income primarily consists of bank interest income
and government grants received from government authorities. For the
year ended December 31, 2022, the Group’s other income increased to
approximately RMB38.0 million, compared to approximately RMB21.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily
attributable to the increase of bank interest income received from fixed
deposits of approximately RMB30.4 million in 2022, which was partially
offset by the effect of the decrease in one-off government subsidies
received from government authorities for our on-going R&D activities in
2022.
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Year ended December 31,

HBZE12A31ALLEE
2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Government grants B8 7,479 16,090
Bank interest income RITHIBUA 30,415 5,036
Others Hth 147 7
Total “aEt 38,041 21,133
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Other Net (Loss)/Gain

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we recorded approximately
RMB29.7 million of other net loss, compared to approximately RMB13.4
million of other net gain for the year ended December 31, 2021. Such
net (loss)/gain primarily consists of net foreign exchange gain or loss
in connection with fund transfers among bank accounts in different
currencies and bank balances that are denominated in U.S. dollars.

R&D Expenses

The Group’s R&D expenses primarily consisted of: (i) clinical trial
professional service fees, primarily including payments to CROs, hospitals
and other medical institutions and testing fees incurred for preclinical
studies and clinical trials; (ii) depreciation and amortization in relation to
our R&D equipment and facilities; (iii) staff costs, including salaries, bonus
and welfare payments for R&D personnel; (iv) costs of raw materials and
consumables used for R&D of our drug candidates; (v) equity-settled
share-based payment for R&D personnel; and (vi) utilities.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, our R&D expenses increased by
approximately RMB76.4 million, or 34.7%, to approximately RMB296.4
million from approximately RMB220.1 million for the year ended December
31, 2021. The increase was mainly due to (i) the continuous advancement
of our clinical trials and increased investments in the ongoing R&D projects
(i.e. Phase III clinical trial for NVK002 and three Phase II clinical trials of
ZKYO0O01 for CED, TPRK and Pterygium and an investigator initiated trial for
NK, a rare degenerative corneal disease during the Reporting Period); and
(ii) increase in headcount of R&D personnel.

The following table sets forth the components of the Group’s R&D
expenses for the years indicated:

Hfth(518) Wiz F5E

HZE2022F12A31AILFE - B EEMBEBIEFE
PARKE29.7E BT MEE2021412A31HEF
BRI EEMK S FBEOARKLIZATET - B
B) /W FEEERRETREENRITRSETESE
R R LA ZETT R HME AV ERT TAS RIE P O BB 3 e SRS 18R 48 o

&G

AEENMERXTIREE - (VBRSREXREE
A - TEBEIEMRCRO - B8k K& H A B BB FUA R
BRRATARIE M iR R A BRE A R E © (i) BRI E
RE RGBT E R EE - (1) 8 TRA - BHEMEA
B S - BARBNFE ¢ (iv)HPIERE YT E
FREME ROBREREIR A (V) [AFFEEA B S AR
REE AR BERENTR - R(VI)KEE -

HE2022F12A31BIEFE F HMINHAEREIRES
202112 A31 AL FEHARKE220.1 5B LE ML
ARE76.458TH34.7%EHNARE296.4EETT
FEARG)ERMNERARSENGER KETTH RO
B IE B A 5N (B R 5 BAANVKO002 /) S ITTHR B K
5 KX ZKY001 (B RICED « TPRKEEMRBH ) B =18
BIHAE R AR A RNK(—EER ARERCRRE) RS
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TREFIAREE R AR FE R R AR

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALLFE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT
Clinical trial professional service fee RARABREEREER 155,631 113,207
Staff costs BIAHA 49,391 29,992
Depreciation and amortization PrE s 31,625 23,928
Cost of raw materials and consumables used T R R M 4 I FE b B B AR 21,662 10,362
Equity-settled share-based payment AR S5 E AR D BRI A3 10,697 21,972
Utilities KEE 5,668 4,018
Other® Hpw 21,756 16,579
Total st 296,430 220,058
Note: Bi3E
® Represent travel and accommodation expenses, repair and maintenance = @ BERREBER  BIERERERARBRBMTE

expenses and other miscellaneous expenses in relation to our R&D activities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses consist of: (i) staff costs; (ii)
professional service fees for legal, consulting and auditing services; (iii)
general operating expenses; (iv) depreciation in relation to our office
equipment; and (v) equity-settled share-based payment for those other
than R&D personnel and commercialization team.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, our general and administrative
expenses were approximately RMB86.1 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB76.0 million from approximately RMB162.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2021, which is primarily attributable to (i)
the decrease in equity-settled share-based payment; and (ii) the Listing
expenses in connection with the IPO only incurred in the year of 2021.

The following table sets forth the components of our general and
administrative expenses for the years indicated:

B E s am M

—RRITHER

HMW—RETERBRBEOEIRAR : (ii)ERE &
ARBIREEEERBER ¢ (i) —REERZ : (iv)
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HE2022F12A318LFE - KW —BRITERER
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ZRR()AEREE ARG AERN TR + K (ii)
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TREFIHEPIRPIRFEN—RRITREBAEKES

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALLFE
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETFT
Equity-settled share-based payment LARE R A5 DARR (D B ETE R 5K 33,317 81,532
Staff costs (include directors’ fee) BEIRA(BRESESD) 31,931 27,583
Professional service fees EERBER 13,994 14,961
Depreciation e 2,717 1,769
General operating expenses —RREE R 2,429 3,385
Listing expenses Eaiil=h3 28,112
Donation B 2,486
Other® HAeb® 2,252
Total “Et 162,080
Note: BfEY -
® Represent certain tax expenses and other miscellaneous expenses. ) SR TRIERY R EMMIERY -
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HER 7 HHX
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses mainly consist of staff costs for our
commercialization team and marketing & conference expenses. Our selling
and distribution expenses increased from RMB16.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021 to approximately RMB29.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to an increase in the
headcount of our commercialization team and building-up of omnichannel
marketing platform, together with pre-launch marketing activities for
upcoming commercialization during the year.

The following table sets forth the components of our selling and  FREIIHFIRFTIREZREE Mo AR
distribution expenses for the years indicated:

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31HILEE
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Staff costs BT 20,835 7,632
Equity-settled share-based payment ARERR A B DARR 1 B E TR 2,670 6,354
Marketing & Conference expenses EHEREREAY 2,074 1,604
Depreciation e 731 288
Other =i} 3,636 858
Total st 29,946 16,736

RIB A

B BRATEBEN)EBMEERLDEMEIAR
SERAERERENEEABHNE  R(i)RITERH
B -

Finance Cost

Our finance costs primarily consist of (i) interest on lease liabilities related
to our leases of office premises and manufacturing and R&D facilities; and
(ii) interest on bank loan.

The following table sets forth the components of our finance costs for the
years indicated:

TREFIHEPIRPRFENTERAAKRES

Year ended December 31,

BZE12A31ALLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT

Changes in the carrying amount of preferred BERBENRERCREY

shares liability 1,763,499
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 1,352
Interest on bank loan RITERFE 597
Total a5t 1,765,448
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Income Tax

We did not incur any income tax during the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2022.

BVI and Cayman Islands

We were incorporated in the BVI in January 2017 and redomiciled to the
Cayman Islands in April 2020. Pursuant to the laws and regulations of
the BVI, we were not subject to any income tax there before we were
redomiciled to the Cayman Islands. We are an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Act of Cayman Islands and
accordingly are exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

Hong Kong

We did not make any provision for Hong Kong profit tax, because our
Hong Kong subsidiary, Zhaoke HK, did not have assessable profits in Hong
Kong during the Reporting Period.

The PRC

We did not make any provision for the PRC income tax, which is at the
rate of 25% pursuant to relevant PRC laws and regulations, because our
PRC subsidiary, Zhaoke Guangzhou, did not have assessable profits in the
PRC during the Reporting Period.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the above factors, for the year ended December 31, 2022,
we recorded a loss of approximately RMB407.3 million, as compared to a
loss of approximately RMB2,129.8 million for the year ended December
31, 2021.
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Non-HKFRS Measure

To supplement the Financial Statements, which are presented in
accordance with the HKFRS, the Company also uses adjusted total loss
for the year and other adjusted figures as additional financial measures,
which are not required by, or presented in accordance with, the HKFRS.
The Company believes that these adjusted measures provide useful
information to its Shareholders and potential investors in understanding
and evaluating the Group’s annual consolidated results of operations in the
same manner as they help the Company’s management.

Adjusted total loss for the year represents the total loss for the year
excluding the effect of equity-settled share-based payment expenses,
listing expenses and certain non-cash items and one-time events, namely
changes in the carrying amount of preferred shares liability. The term
adjusted total loss for the year is not defined under the HKFRS. However,
the Company believes that this and other non-HKFRS measures are
reflections of the Group’s normal operating results by eliminating the
potential impact of items that the management do not consider to be
indicative of the Group’s operating performance. The adjusted total loss
for the year, as the management of the Group believes, is adopted in
the industry where the Group is operating. However, the presentation of
the adjusted total loss for the year is not intended to be (and should not
be) considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information
prepared and presented in accordance with the HKFRS. Shareholders
and potential investors of the Company should not view the non-HKFRS
measures (i.e. the adjusted total comprehensive loss for the year) on a
stand-alone basis or as a substitute for results under the HKFRS, or as
being comparable to results reported or forecasted by other companies.

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of the total comprehensive loss
for the year to adjusted total comprehensive loss for the year during the
years indicated:

HEERBHEER BT

REFRIBEFBUBREER 2 NOFBIREK - ARQF]
TMERERBFABRERRELMERBEHT - (ERH
MBS ES N MLFHFENER B EREER
EREER - TERBEEHMEREERZ7 - ARQF)
5 ZERABRTETATREBR EGEREER
HERER  BHEETHREFEAEENEFEEE
BRE  —WEMERBBAARERE TR KETH
flr e

RABFAEBREREFANBEREEMR A ESEE L
RO BERNONRFAX - LR RETHRSEAR
—RUEHE (AEERAGERESHEED)NTE - BB
FHREENT BEREREFANBRLE —FRNEE
& o AW - ARBMERE - W REMIFEEBUBREE
A2 A RMALEENEREERXE  HRELRE
RRYFAKELERRERNRE ATRLEKNTE -
FEEERERE  CHEFABRREREASRRLE
BT - AT - KRABFANBBEE TR T ER
B EBERRBREEBVBEREERNFEL 2508
BEM - ARABRRREERBEETRBILERIEDE
FBRERAHENN(ERBFALEBREH)
FREREBBMBREENFEHNEE - IBURS
FIELE (N ) 2 TR EAE LU -

TRIEFINPAIRFENFASHBRQRREHAEFR
ESE SR

Year ended December 31,

Loss for the year FAEE

Add: b/

Changes in the carrying amount of preferred BEKREBEROSENED
shares liability

Listing expenses

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses

EmREX

UARE s AR E DA D RERE R NSRRI X

Non-HKFRS adjusted loss for the year®

FEBUBHRELAERHBEFABHED

BZ12A31HILFE

2022 2021
20224 2021%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETFT
(407,317) (2,129,780)
= 1,763,499

= 28,112

46,684 109,858
(360,633) (228,311)
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Note:

(1) Non-HKFRS Measures

Management Discussion and Analysis

Non-HKFRS adjusted net loss for the year is defined as loss and total
comprehensive income for the year adjusted by adding back non-cash
adjustments and one-time events of (i) changes in the carrying amount of
preferred shares liability in relation to the redemption amount and conversion
features for our Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares; (ii)
Listing expenses; and (iii) equity-settled share-based payment expenses. The
above table reconciles our non-HKFRS adjusted net loss for the year with our

loss for the year.

Selected Data from Statement of Financial

Position

B E s am M

B -

(1) FERUMBREEAFESR

BB BREEEAEFANBRFREOER QLR
BERNEBERAREEKREE - EPMEERSFHERNU
T—RMIEE « () EARFELE KBRS EER A ERD
SHELEREEEENEERABERASENED (i)
LR R(ill) AR EE AR RERANTHX
ERABIFBEVMBHRELAGABRFABRFRRAFA
EIRMEIER -

BRI EEHE

As at December 31,
A12A31H

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARETTT

Total current assets MEVEELE 1,972,747 2,208,894
Total non-current assets IFRBEERE 597,876 396,513
Total assets BELRE 2,570,623 2,605,407
Total current liabilities mEBEERR 194,540

Total non-current liabilities B AERE 27,710

Total liabilities B E@EEE 222,250 109,920
Current assets REBEE

Other receivables and prepayments EH A PRI IE R FB R RIE 75,457 46,800
Pledged bank balances BIRRIRTTAE SR 172,066 25,508
Time deposits with original maturity over three RE|HE BB =EANTHEFER

months 8,873 8,157
Cash and cash equivalents HekREEED 1,716,351 2,128,429
Total current assets REBEELE 1,972,747 2,208,894
Current liabilities REAE

Other payables and accruals
Amounts due to related companies

HADRENBOR R ERT &
FE A BABSE X R OB

83,418
6,897

94,500
9,725

194,540

Bank loans RITER
Lease liabilities HEAE
Total current liabilities REBEERAHE
Net current assets RBEEFE

1,778,207

2,119,886
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Liquidity and Source of Funding and
Borrowing

Our primary uses of cash are to fund our clinical trials, manufacturing,
purchase of equipment and raw materials and other expenses. During the
Reporting Period, we primarily funded our working capital requirements
through net proceeds from the Global Offering and the pre-IPO
investments. We closely monitor uses of cash and cash balances and strive
to maintain a healthy liquidity for our operations.

As at December 31, 2022, the current assets of the Group were
approximately RMB1,972.7 million, including cash and cash equivalents
of approximately RMB1,716.4 million, time deposits with an original
maturity over three months of approximately RMB8.9 million, pledged
bank balance of approximately RMB172.1 million and other current
assets of approximately RMB75.5 million. As at December 31, 2022, the
current liabilities of the Group were approximately RMB194.5 million,
including other payables and accruals of approximately RMB83.4 million,
amounts due to related companies of approximately RMB6.9 million, bank
borrowings of approximately RMB94.5 million and other current liabilities
of approximately RMB9.7 million.

Amounts due to related companies composed of payable for CROs services
and are unsecured, interest-free and repayable with maximum credit
terms of 30 days or on demand.

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had secured bank loan of RMB94.5
million which was repayable within one year or on demand.

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. To achieve better risk control and minimize the cost of
funds, the Group’s treasury is centralized. Cash is generally placed in
deposits mostly denominated in U.S. Dollars, Hong Kong dollars and RMB.
The Group’s liquidity and financing requirements are reviewed regularly.

Pledge of Bank Balance

Our pledged bank balance was approximately RMB172.1 million as of
December 31, 2022 (2021: RMB25.5 million), representing bank balances
we pledged with a bank required for the issue of a letter of credit for
importing certain machines and equipment, and banking facility.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Key Financial Ratios

The following table sets forth the components of our key financial ratio for
the dates indicated:

B E s am M

FEYHBLE

TREFIRATR BRI E B RS

As at December 31,
A12A31H
2022
20224

Current ratio® TEEL R

10.1
N/ATER®

24.8
N/ATRER®

W BN R TR R B MR B EER ARB BEFE -

Gearing ratio® BEBEBLER®
Notes: B
@ Current ratio represents current assets divided by current liabilities as of the
same date.
@ Gearing ratio represents interest-bearing borrowings less cash and cash

equivalents and time deposits with original maturity over three months, divided
by total equity and multiplied by 100% as of the same date.

S As of December 31, 2021 and 2022, we were in a net cash position and thus
gearing ratio is not applicable.

Contingent Liabilities

As at December 31, 2022, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

Capital Commitment

The capital commitment of the Group as at December 31, 2022
was approximately RMB277.2 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB82.5 million as compared with that of approximately
RMB194.7 million as at December 31, 2021, primarily attributable to
progress made in the construction of manufacturing facilities and R&D
activities.

Significant Investments

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we did not have any significant
investment.

Future Plans for Material Investments or
Capital Assets

As of December 31, 2022, we did not have any plans for material
investments and capital assets.

) BEABLEERBNGEEFRRERREEEY R
REMABB=EANERTR - RAESEE  BF
FA100%

@) 20215 %2022612A31H - HMENFREMR -
HtEERAEL R TEA -

HAEE

A2022F12A31H  AEEWEEREALAAE -

HXRE
M2022F 12 A31 0 ' AEENEREKENRBARE
277.2B BT 2021412 31BN ARK194.78

BILEMHARKES2.588 T - TERNERAEERNM
R E RIS ER

EARE

HZE2022F12A31R1EFE  BMTETAEKRE
g °

EAREHAELXZGEH AR E

M2022F12A310  HMATEEAERERNIRELE
RNEEME -
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals

We did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Employees and Remuneration

As at December 31, 2022, the Group had a total of 293 employees. The
following table sets forth the total number of employees by function as of
December 31, 2022:

EARBRHYUE

HE2022F12A318ILFE @ RMWEETERANE
AR BEARREECENTMERKEREE -

AVE

720225128310 - "EEEFREH#293EEE - T
FREFIMN2022F12 A31 BEREEEI DV E B A%

Number of % of

employees the total

EE®E HBEEES

Management B 6 2.0
R&D e 100 34.1
Manufacturing EE 67 22.9
Quality control EE 43 14.7
Sales and marketing SHE R A 45 15.4
Environmental, health and safety IRIE - BRET R 1 0.3
Administrative TR 31 10.6
Total st 293 100.0

The remuneration of the employees of the Group comprises salaries,
bonuses, employees provident fund and social security contributions, other
welfare payments and equity-settled share-based payment.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2022 was approximately RMB132.1 million, as compared to
approximately RMB150.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.
The decrease was primarily attributable to the decrease of equity-settled
share-based payment of approximately RMB54.8 million which was net off
by an increase of approximately RMB36.7 million in employee salaries and
benefits in line with the expansion in headcount.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group mainly operated in
China and a majority of its transactions were settled in RMB, the functional
currency of the Company’s primary subsidiaries. As at December 31,
2022, a significant amount of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
was denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Except for certain cash and cash
equivalents, prepayments on purchases of property, plant and equipment
and other payables denominated in foreign currencies, the Group did
not have significant foreign currency exposure from its operations as at
December 31, 2022. Our Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of our net foreign exchange exposures and
seeks to minimize these exposures whenever possible. We currently do
not adopt any long-term contracts, currency borrowings or other means to
hedge our foreign currency exposure.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Xiaoyi, aged 60, was appointed as the chairman of the Board,
an executive Director and the CEO on January 20, 2017. He is mainly
responsible for the formulation of the corporate development strategies
and direction for our Group as well as overall day-to-day management of
our business and operations. Dr. Li Xiaoyi also holds directorship at each
subsidiary of our Group since its establishment.

Dr. Li has over 25 years of experience in pharmaceutical R&D as well as
management and strategic planning for pharmaceutical companies. Dr. Li
founded Lee’s Pharm in 1994 and has been the chief technical officer since
then. Dr. Li was appointed as an executive director and the chief executive
officer of Lee’s Pharm in September 2003, where he is responsible for
the overall operations and management and R&D of Lee’s Pharm and Dr.
Li resigned as the chief executive officer and the chief technical officer
and has been re-designed from an executive director to a non-executive
director of Lee’s Pharm since April 29, 2021.

In addition to his roles in Lee’s Pharm, Dr. Li also has multiple experience
in the management and strategic planning for many other pharmaceutical
institutions. Since 2014, he has been serving as the vice president of Hong
Kong Biotechnology Organization, mainly responsible for developing the
biotech industry in Hong Kong. Since March 2016, he has been serving
as the president of Guangzhou Pharmaceutical Association* (B2 &),
an academic and non-profit social organization formed by pharmaceutical
researchers in Guangzhou, where he is mainly responsible for providing
industrial insights for developing the pharmaceutical industry in
Guangzhou. Dr. Li is also a member of the review committee of Innovation
and Technology Fund of Hong Kong Government, a fund supported by the
government of Hong Kong to promote and facilitate technology companies.
Dr. Li obtained his Ph.D. in pharmacology from the medicine college of the
University of Illinois in the United States in May 1992.

Dr. Li has earned multiple awards and esteemed recognitions. He has
been an adjunct professor at the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology since November 2013 and an honorary fellow since June
2016. In August 2018, he was awarded the leading innovation talent*
(E M A % %8 E A 74 ) by the Guangzhou government. In January 2018,
Dr. Li was appointed as a member of the People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Anhui Province in the PRC, and was honored with the 16th
World Outstanding Chinese Award (it #4412 A 4%) by the World Chinese
Business Investment Foundation (it FEEREHE L) in August 2018.

*  For identification purposes only
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Mr. Dai Xiangrong, aged 43, joined our Group in June 2016 and was
appointed as an executive Director on October 23, 2020. He is mainly
responsible for overseeing R&D and daily operation of our Group.

As a licensed pharmacist, Mr. Dai has over 14 years of extensive
experience in preclinical studies, clinical research and registration of new
drugs. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Dai had worked in Lee’s Pharm since
July 2007, where he was responsible for various new drug development
programs and succeeded in bringing the programs to the clinical trial
stage, and was further promoted to senior director of the R&D centre in
February 2016. Prior to the Listing Date, Mr. Dai resigned as the senior
director of the R&D center and ceased to hold any management position in
the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group.

Mr. Dai obtained both his bachelor’s degree in horticulture and his
master’s degree in biochemistry from Anhui Agricultural University (Z#2
% °K2) in Anhui Province, China, in July 2003 and June 2007, respectively.

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, aged 69, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on February 20, 2017 and is primarily responsible for
providing guidance and advice on the corporate and business strategies of
our Group.

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun is an entrepreneur and had established and run
several companies since the 1990s. Prior to joining our Group, she joined
Lee’s Pharm in April 1997. She has been appointed as an executive
director and managing director of Lee’s Pharm since December 2001,
and further as the chief marketing and sales officer of Lee’s Pharm since
September 2003, where she was responsible for the sales and marketing
activities of Lee’s Pharm.

Ms. Tiantian Zhang, aged 40, was appointed as a non-executive Director

on February 5, 2021 and is primarily responsible for providing guidance
and advice on the corporate and business strategies of our Group.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A

Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

BWE kL 435% 0 20166 AMARER TR
2020F10A23HEZEARITES - REEZAHEEE
AEBHOMELAEEE o

TER— R ZELER - BEENERRATAAT - ERIRFFTE R
MEXMAEEFBI4FNE LR - RMALEE
Al - BMEAEB2007F7 AR —ENFRAERER
S AE LR B IR BRI S % F 5t BRI S
BRIEER - RIN2016F2 AR — LB RAEHLER
e o P T HMAT  MELBREREPORSRAE —
B B TERREFRAZEBE R L EEAEERA -

HEEDRIN2003F7 AKX2007F6 AT ELZHE R
BREERBEESERZZS LB RAEYCBELT 2 -

HHITEE

FER L L 0 6958 - N2017F2A20EBEZERIFH
TES  TEAARAEENRRREBRBIRMES]
Mg -

FEELTATER - B EH490FRIAE - BRI K&
CEZENAR) - RIMAKREER] - FR1997F4 A MA
AFCKNBER » M E20014F12 ABRER A K ABER
WITESREFAKIE - WH2003F9 ARE— S ER
FATRARERMISHEERBERE  AEFTRAER
RSHERTBHEETE -

BEB KL 405« 1202192 A5 BEEE AN
EF  XEARRARENATREBRBIRIUEIR
i -



Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Zhang has over 10 years of management and investment experience
in healthcare industry. From January 2009 to April 2012, Ms. Zhang
worked as a manager of business development at Hutchison MediPharma
Limited, which is a subsidiary of Hutchison China MediTech Limited, a
company whose shares are traded on the NASDAQ (ticker symbol: HCM),
where she was responsible for drug out-licensing and project management.
From July 2014 to December 2015, Ms. Zhang worked as an associate
manager at Zimmer Biomet Holdings, Inc., a company whose shares are
traded on the New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: ZBH), where she
was responsible for management of strategic initiatives. In January 2016,
Ms. Zhang joined Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers China (SU5EATEHES)
as a vice president, focusing on the firm’s life science investment practice
and portfolio management. Ms. Zhang joined Panacea Venture since
January 2018 and is now a partner; Panacea Venture is a venture capital
firm focusing on investments in innovative and transformative early and
growth stage healthcare and life sciences companies worldwide, where she
involves in the firm'’s life science practice, portfolio management and fund-
raising.

Ms. Zhang graduated from the University of Texas at Austin, the United
States with a bachelor of science degree in biochemistry in December
2006. She obtained a master degree in biotechnology from the Graduate
School of Arts and Sciences of Columbia University, the United States in
October 2008, and a master of business administration degree from the
Fuqua School of Business of Duke University, the United States, in May
2014.

Ms. Cai Li, aged 39, was appointed as a non-executive Director on
October 23, 2020 and is primarily responsible for providing guidance and
advice on the corporate and business strategies of our Group.

From 2007 through 2008, Ms. Cai worked as a research analyst at Credit
Suisse AG (New York), where she was responsible for equity research for
large cap of medical supplies and devices companies. From March 2009
to July 2011, Ms. Cai worked as an investment associate at HAO Capital
(Haotian Jinsheng Investment Management (Beijing) Limited), focusing on
growth stage healthcare investments. Ms. Cai joined TPG Capital, a leading
global alternative asset firm, in August 2011 and is latest serving as a
managing director of TPG Capital, responsible for TPG Capital’s healthcare
investments in Greater China. Mr. Cai also served as a non-executive
director at Shanghai Bio-heart Biological Technology Co., Ltd. (/BB LE
EYRAMTI D AR A F), a company whose H shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2185) from September 2020 to
November 2022.
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Ms. Cai also concurrently holds the following positions outside our Group:

° a supervisor at Shanghai Deyu Deqi Enterprise Management
Consulting Co., Ltd. (F/8EEBSRBAXEERAANAE R QD A) since
November 2016;

. a non-executive director at Kangji Medical Holdings Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 9997), since March 2020;

o a non-executive director at Dingdang Health Technology Group Ltd.,
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 9886), since May 2021.

Ms. Cai obtained her bachelor’s degree in biomedical engineering and
economics from Yale University in Connecticut, the United States in May
2007.

Mr. Chen Yu, aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive Director on
October 23, 2020 and is primarily responsible for providing guidance and
advice on the corporate and business strategies of our Group.

Mr. Chen has over 14 years of experience in investment. From June 2007
to September 2007 and from January 2008 to September 2010, he was an
analyst in the investment banking department of Bank of America Merrill
Lynch. From September 2010 to June 2011, he served as an associate
of the China investment banking department at Citigroup Global Markets
Asia Limited. From January 2012 to July 2015, he was a senior investment
manager of Shanghai Panxin Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd. (-
BEEREREEEHRAF). Since August 2015, he has been an executive
director, and currently managing director, of Hillhouse.

Mr. Chen has been serving as a director of JHBP (CY) Holdings Limited, a
pharmaceutical company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 6998), since December 2018.

Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering (information
and communication engineering) from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in November 2003, a master’s degree in electrical
engineering from Yale University in Connecticut, the United States in May
2005 and a master’s degree in management science and engineering from
Stanford University in California, the United States in January 2008.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hin Wing, aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on April 1, 2021 and is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to our Board.

Mr. Wong holds a master’s degree in executive business administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the
Chartered Governance Institute. He is also a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a chartered member of the
Chartered Institute for Securities & Investment. Mr. Wong was awarded
the Medal of Honor by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region.

Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director at each
of C CHENG HOLDINGS LIMITED (a public company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1486)), Guangzhou Baiyunshan Pharmaceutical
Holdings Company Limited (a public company with A shares listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600332) and H shares listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 874)), Inner Mongolia Yitai Coal Co., Ltd. (a
public company with B shares listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 900948) and H shares listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3948)), Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited (a public company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1170)), and Jiangxi Bank Co., Ltd. (a
public company with H shares listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1916)). Mr. Wong served as an independent non-executive director of
CRCC High-Tech Equipment Corporation Limited (a public company with H
shares listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1786)) from November
2015 to October 2022 and an independent non-executive director of
Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited (a public company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8509)) from December 2017 to March 2023.

Mr. Wong is a member of the Anhui Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, a panel member of Accounting
and Financial Reporting Review Tribunal, a member of the Construction
Industry Council, the Betting and Lotteries Commission, the Medical
Council of Hong Kong and the board member of Ocean Park Corporation.

Mr. Wong is the managing partner and responsible officer of Hermitage
Capital HK Limited, a licensed corporation under the SFO. Prior to this,
he had worked with an international audit firm for four years and then a
listed company as chief financial officer for seven years, after which he
co-founded Silk Road International Capital Limited (a licensed corporation
formerly known as Legend Capital Partners Inc.) and led the company
as the executive director and responsible officer for twenty-three years.
Overall, he has over three decades of solid experience in corporate
management and governance, investment management and advisory,
accounting and finance.
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Prof. Lo Yuk Lam, aged 74, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on April 1, 2021 and is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to our Board.

Prof. Lo has extensive experience in biotechnology industry, corporate
management, academic research and community service. Since July
2019, he has been serving as the chairman of GT Healthcare Capital
Partners, a private investment partnership specializing in healthcare
investments. From July 2007 to June 2009, he was a member of the
Hong Kong Government Research Grants Council. He was the chairman
of the Advisory Council on Food and Environmental Hygiene of the Hong
Kong Government from April 2015 to March 2021 and he has been the
president for HK Bio-Med Innotech Association. He also serves as the
honorary chairman of the Hong Kong Biotechnology Organisation. Since
February 2019, he has been serving as the partner of Hongsen Investment
Management Ltd, an investment company focusing on growing biotech
companies. He is now appointed as the strategic advisor to the President
and Adjunct Professor to the Division of Life Science of Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology.

Prof. Lo also holds or ever held the following positions outside our Group:

. an independent director of Sinovac Biotech Ltd., a company whose
shares are listed on NASDAQ Global Select Market (ticker symbol:
SVA), since March 2006;

. an independent non-executive director of Luye Pharma Group Ltd.,
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2186), since June 2014; and

. an independent non-executive director of CSPC Pharmaceutical
Group Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1093), from June 2014 to
January 2021.

In recognition of his leadership in the community and dedication to his
field, Prof. Lo has received many awards. In 2000, he was the first to be
bestowed with the title of honorary fellow by the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology for his role in establishing Hong Kong’s
biotechnology industry. He was awarded China’s “Top Ten Financial and
Intelligent Persons” in 2007 in recognition of his outstanding contribution
to economic development and business innovation in China. He was
honored with the World Outstanding Chinese Award (it 5 ¢ H 2 A #8) by
the World Chinese Business Investment Foundation (tt R E @& & & &
& ) in June 2008, the Pericles International Prize 2019 by the Alcmaeon
International Academy in June 2019, and the HKSAR Bronze Bauhinia Star
by the government of Hong Kong in October 2020.
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Mr. Liew Fui Kiang, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on June 6, 2022 and is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to our Board.

Mr. Liew is currently an independent non-executive director of (i)
Shandong Gold Mining Co., Ltd., a company dually listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1787) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600547); (ii) China Apex Group Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2011); (iii) Zhengye International Holdings
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3363); and (iv) Zhongchang International Holdings Group Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 859).

Mr. Liew currently serves as an independent member of the board of
supervisors for Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China Limited,
a company dually listed on the Stock Exchange(stock code: 2318) and
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601318), a Fortune Global 500
corporation.

Mr. Liew served as (i) the chairman of the board of directors and an
executive director of PacRay International Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1010) from 2017 to 2019; (ii) a
non-executive director of Amber Hill Financial Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 33) in December 2019; and (iii)
an independent non-executive director of Baoshan Iron & Steel Company
Limited (2 (L 8 & §% 19 A BR A & ), a company listed on Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600019), a Fortune Global 500 corporation, from
2000 to 2006.

Mr. Liew is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors, a solicitor
of England and Wales, and a solicitor of Hong Kong. He graduated from
the University of Leeds in the United Kingdom with a Bachelor of Laws
as a Tetley & Lupton scholar, and he graduated from the Hull University
Business School in the United Kingdom with a master of business
administration.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Lau Lit Fui, aged 60, joined our Group in June 2016 and was
appointed as president and chief operating officer of our Group on April
1, 2019 and reassigned as CSO on January 18, 2022. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the overall scientific functions of our Group,
including basic and applied research projects, as well as the development
of new processes, technologies or projects. He is also responsible for
promoting the efficiency, profitability and competitive position of our
Group.
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Dr. Lau has 24 years of extensive experience in operation management
and R&D of new drugs. From August 1998 to January 2008, he worked
in the global R&D department of Pfizer Inc., a worldwide leading
pharmaceutical company, where his last position was senior principal
scientist heading a biology laboratory and supervising technicians in testing
drug candidates. From January 2008 to August 2012, Dr. Lau worked
as the associate director of the new product and alliance development
department of GlaxoSmithKline (China) R&D Co., Ltd., a science-led
global healthcare company, where he was responsible for department
management and R&D of new drugs treating neurodegenerative diseases.
Dr. Lau joined Lee’s Pharm in October 2012 and had been managing the
operation and R&D of Lee’s Pharm until April 2016.

Dr. Lau obtained both his bachelor’s degree in science and master degree
of philosophy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December
1985 and December 1987, respectively, where he was awarded the
Wong Siew Chan Scholarship. In December 1993, he obtained his Ph.D.
in biochemical science from the University of Connecticut in the United
States. He completed his research fellowship in neuroscience at the School
of Medicine of John Hopkins University in the United States in August
1998.

Dr. Lau’s outstanding performances have been recognized by several
leading corporations. In February 1991, he was granted SmithKline
Beecham Student Pharmacology Award by SmithKline Beecham
Pharmaceuticals, a company focused on pharmaceuticals, biologics,
vaccines, and consumer healthcare. During his employment with Pfizer,
Inc., he was granted several awards by the global research & development
department of the company, for his leadership, team work spirit and
contribution in R&D. In 2014, he was awarded the Medicines for Life
Award by UTASIA Inc., a subsidiary of United Therapeutics Corporation,
a company mainly focusing on pharmaceutical preparations business.
In 2018, Dr. Lau received an award from CVie Therapeutics Co. Ltd., a
subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm, for his sustained contribution and commitment.

Ms. Feng Xinyan, aged 45, was appointed as the CFO of our Group on
December 7, 2020 and appointed for another dual role as the CBO on
January 18, 2022. She is primarily responsible for financial planning and
initiatives and investor relations management, and also oversees the
overall operation of our Group.
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From 2000 to 2002, she worked as an analyst at McKinsey & Company.
From August 2004 to July 2012, she worked at Goldman Sachs (Asia)
L.L.C. and successively held various positions, including the executive
director. From July 2012 to September 2014, she served as a managing
director and head of China equity capital markets at Standard Chartered
Bank. From September 2014 to August 2018, she served as an executive
director of strategic business development and investor relations at Global
Brands Group Holding Limited, a company whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0787). She served as
the chief financial officer at ACEA Therapeutics, Inc, a company engaged
in developing and delivering innovative treatments to life-threatening
diseases from April 2019 to November 2019.

Ms. Feng obtained her bachelor’s degree in computer appliance from
Fudan University (8B KX2) in Shanghai, China in July 1998. She obtained
a master’s degree in computer science from University of Virginia in the
United States in August 2000, and a master of business administration
degree from the University of Chicago Booth School of Business in the
United States in March 2004.

Dr. Albert Tsai Jr., aged 49, was appointed as the CMO of our Group on
June 1, 2021. He is primarily responsible for leading the Group to advance
its assets through the clinical development process as well as supporting
the post-approval medical affairs for the Group’s commercial products (e.g.
safety, risk management, thought leader relationships).

Dr. Tsai has 20 years of healthcare experience across the spectrum of
pharmaceuticals, biotech, medical devices and healthcare consulting,
as well as in various country markets including China, U.S., Japan and
Southeast Asia. From 2019 to 2021, he served as the vice president,
regional medical officer of the Asia-Pacific region at PPD Inc., a leading
global CRO, responsible for business development and providing medical/
scientific product development advisory to biotech companies in Asia.
Prior to that, he served as the vice president, Asia Pacific at The Medicines
Company Hong Kong, a company listed on the NASDAQ (stock code:
MDCO) from 2014 to 2019, where he developed and implemented the Asia
expansion strategy for The Medicines Company Hong Kong with a primary
focus on establishing their presence in China and Japan. From 1997 to
2014, he worked in various leading global pharmaceutical companies
including Bayer Schering Pharma AG, Merck Sharp & Dohme (Asia) Ltd.,
Amgen Inc. and GE Healthcare Inc. in senior medical positions.

Dr. Tsai obtained his doctor of medicine from Northwestern University and
master of business administration in strategy and finance from University
of Southern California.
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Mr. Zhang Guohui, aged 48, joined our Group in June 2016 and was
appointed as deputy general manager of our Group on July 1, 2016. He is
mainly responsible for overseeing manufacturing and logistics function of
our Group.

Mr. Zhang has over 23 years of experience in pharmaceutical industry.
Since his graduation in July 1997 and until June 2016, Mr. Zhang had been
working in Lee’s Pharm for more than 18 years. He was first responsible
for the R&D of new drugs, quality control and GMP management
and further promoted as the head of R&D of the company, where he
accumulated extensive experience in the R&D and registration of new
drugs, as well as project management.

Mr. Zhang obtained his bachelor’s degree in biochemical engineering from
the Beijing Institute of Light Industry (Jt & T%2Ft), currently known as
Beijing Technology and Business University (Jt /2 T A2) in Beijing, China
in July 1997. He obtained his master’s degree in business administration
from Asia International Open University (Macau) in January 2009.

Mr. Jiang Su, aged 42, joined our Group in January 2018 and was
appointed as the clinical operations director of our Group on June 1, 2019.
He is mainly responsible for conducting and organizing clinical trials.

Mr. Jiang has over 18 years of experience in pharmaceutical industry.
Since his graduation in July 2003 and until January 2018, Mr. Jiang had
been working in Lee’s Pharm for almost 15 years. He was first responsible
for carrying out clinical trials and further promoted to the head of clinical
quality in charge of quality control of clinical trials.

Mr. Jiang obtained his bachelor’s degree in maternal and child health from
the Anhui Medical University (% & & £} X2 ) in Anhui Province, China in
June 2003.

Mr. Ma Jian, aged 36, joined our Group in January 2017. He was
appointed as assistant manager of quality assurance and quality control
on September 1, 2018, and was further promoted as the vice president of
quality control of our Group in 2021. He is mainly responsible for devising
procedures to inspect and report quality assurance issues, identifying
critical control points and preventive measures.

From 2007 to 2012, Mr. Ma had been working in the R&D department of
various pharmaceutical companies. From March 2012 to January 2017,
Mr. Ma had been working at Lee’s Pharm where he was first the leader of
document quality assurance group and further promoted as the leader of
onsite quality assurance.

Mr. Ma obtained his bachelor’s degree in medicine from Anhui Medical
University (Z#%&#®}X2) in Anhui Province, China in June 2007.
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Mr. Mauro Bove, aged 67, was appointed as the business development
director of our Group on January 1, 2019. He is mainly responsible for
overseeing business development activities and identifying new business
opportunities and finalizing the relevant negotiations on a global basis.

Mr. Bove has almost 40 years of business and management experience
within the pharmaceutical industry working in Europe, North America and
Asia. Mr. Bove led for many years until March 2014 the corporate and
business development of Sigma-Tau Finanziaria S.p.A.. From May 2005
to December 2014, he served as a non-executive director of Lee’s Pharm.
From December 2014 to December 2018, he served as the senior vice
president of corporate and business development department of Lee’s
Pharm, overseeing the business development activities and identifying
new business opportunities for the group.

In addition to the above, Mr. Bove has also served as a director of
many other private or listed pharmaceutical companies. He serves as
a director at RegeneRx Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., a biopharmaceutical
company listed on the OTCQB market under the ticker symbol “RGRX"
in the United States; KATO Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a privately held
U.S. bio-pharmaceutical company dedicated to the development of
novel therapies for pathologies of the eye with an emphasis on unmet
medical needs; Adastra Pharmaceuticals Inc., a private U.S. clinical-
stage biopharmaceutical company focused on providing novel solutions
to advance patient care in oncology; and Eyesense AG, an European
company focusing on the scientific R&D in the area of medical devices
applied to the diabetes segment.

Mr. Bove obtained his law degree from the University of Parma in Italy
in July 1980. In 1985, he attended the Academy of American and
International Law at International and Comparative Law Center in Texas,
the United States.

Mr. Feng Jiang, aged 47, was appointed as sales and marketing
director of our Group on October 1, 2020. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing the branding, sales and marketing activities of our Group.

From 2000 to 2006, Mr. Feng served at various China offices of
multinational pharmaceutical companies as sales or medical representative.
From January 2007 to April 2010, he worked for Eli Lilly Asia, Inc., where
he was responsible for the promotion and sales of products in Guangdong
Province and his last position was regional manager. From April 2010
to September 2020, he served successively as the regional manager
and deputy director of the ophthalmic business department of Allergan
Information Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd, where he was responsible
for the sales and marketing of the company’s ophthalmic pharmaceutical
products and was granted several awards by the company in recognition
of his great performance.

Mr. Feng obtained his bachelor’s degree in biotechnology from South China
Agricultural University (2% A2) in Guangdong Province, China in July
1999.
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Ms. Yau Suk Yan, aged 40, was appointed as the financial controller and
the company secretary of our Company on September 9, 2019. She is
responsible for management and supervision of auditing, report analysis
and budget control of our Group.

From September 2004 to January 2010, Ms. Yau served as a manager at
KPMG. From February 2010 to July 2015, she was the financial controller
and company secretary of Active Group Holdings Limited, currently known
as Sino Energy International Limited (R aEEIFR MR BRAE]), a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1096), where she was in charge of finance management and audit
of the group. From July 2015 to September 2019, Ms. Yau served as
the financial controller and company secretary of Uni-Bio Science Group
Limited (Bt AR EE AR A7), a company whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 690), where she was
responsible for finance management and audit of the group.

Ms. Yau obtained her bachelor’s degree of arts (with honors) in
accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November
2004 and completed the CPA qualification programme and passed the
professional examination for membership admission and was issued with a
practicing certificate by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in August 2006. She has been a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2008 and a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since March 2016.

Dr. Jin Yixuan, aged 41, joined our Group as the associate medical
director on October 8, 2019, mainly responsible for overseeing clinical
trial development in terms of protocol development and providing medical
insight for clinical trial strategy and model design.

Dr. Jin started her career as an attending physician of ophthalmology in
Nanhai People’s Hospital of Foshan City* (%1 T /&@E AKER) from 2011
to 2014. She worked at Beijing Novartis Pharma Co., Ltd. (bR R
fR727]), a global healthcare company from June 2018 to September 2019,
where her last position was medical science liaison manager.

Dr. Jin obtained her master’s degree in clinical medicine from Harbin
Medical University ("aF/ZE%KX2) in Heilongjiang Province, China, in July

2008. She then obtained her doctor’s degree in ophthalmology from Sun
Yat-sen University (1L X2) in Guangdong Province, China in June 2011.

*  For identification purposes only
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Ms. Carol Liu, aged 39, joined our Group as head of regulatory affairs
on January 4, 2021. She is responsible for overseeing industry specific
practices and ensuring all government and regulations are being met
throughout drug registration of the Group.

Ms. Liu has worked for GlaxoSmithKline plc (GSK) and Lee’s Pharm from
2007 to 2021. In the past 14 years of professional career, she focused
on the area of regulatory affairs, especially for innovative drugs including
biological products and chemical drugs. She obtained her master of
science degree in the School of Pharmacy of Peking University (1t 2 K2).

Ms. Yang Lei, aged 42, joined our Group as general counsel on October
11, 2021. She is responsible for overseeing legal and compliance functions
of our Group.

Ms. Yang started her career at Shanghai Xuhui District Government'’s
Supervision Commission (&M #RIERARBFHHAZE) in 2003. Since 2006
she worked for General Electronics after her graduation from the master
program in Germany. She joined Roche China as legal manager since 2011
and since then she focused on healthcare industry and had accumulated
rich experience in legal and compliance practice. Starting from 2015, she
joined USP China (ERIZEZ E @ #ER 42 H0) as director of legal, compliance
and ethics.

Ms. Yang is pursuing PhD. in philosophy at Chinese Academy of Social
Science (PRIt EHRIERL). She obtained a master’s degree in European and
international law from Bremen University, Germany. She also obtained a
bachelor’s degree in civil and commercial law from East China University
of Law and Politics (ZRBUAAZ).
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EXTERNAL CONSULTANT

Dr. Samir Chandrakant Patel, aged 62, was engaged by our Company
as strategy consultant of our Group on April 9, 2020, to provide our Group
with consulting services in relation to, among others, planning business
strategies, sourcing business development opportunities, and providing
protocol inputs and clinical development integration inputs.

Dr. Patel has over thirty years of extensive experience in ophthalmology,
including 10 years in academic medicine and 20 years in the ophthalmic
pharmaceutical industry. He obtained his degree of doctor of medicine
from the medical school of University of Massachusetts in the United States
in 1985 and completed his residency in ophthalmology at the University of
Chicago in 1990. Further, Dr. Patel completed his clinical retinal fellowship
at the Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary at the Harvard Medical School,
being the primary teaching hospital of Harvard Ophthalmology. Dr. Patel
was duly elected as a fellow by the American Academy of Ophthalmology
in 1992. Dr. Patel commenced his practice in academic ophthalmology
at the University of Chicago in 1992 where he eventually served as an
associate professor of ophthalmology and the director of retina service,
until July 2000.

Dr. Patel further gained valuable insights and experience in the
management and operation of pharmaceutical companies since 2000 when
he first started his own business by co-founding Eyetech Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., a biopharmaceutical company specializing in novel therapeutics to
treat eye diseases, where he served as a director and chief of clinical
and commercial strategy. In 2007, Dr. Patel co-founded Ophthotech
Corporation, a biopharmaceutical company listed on the NASDAQ under
the ticker symbol "OPHT” and specializing in the development of novel
therapeutics to treat ophthalmic diseases (currently known as IVERIC
bio, Inc. and listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the ticker
symbol “ISEE”), and served as the company’s founding chief executive
officer, president and vice chairman of its board of directors.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Yau Suk Yan, our company secretary, was appointed on September 9,
2019. Ms. Yau is also our financial controller. For details of her biography,
please see “-Senior Management.”

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors confirm that no information is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report of the EEEMRAZIANAFTNRREGANADEEARSE -
Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND VALUE TEEREER

As a leading ophthalmic pharmaceutical company dedicated to the R&D,  JKFIRFLE —RIELMNREIR BN - BAORE LN
manufacturing and commercialization of therapies that address significant % - 83&E M EE - LURHBE2HEABEZ RGO - A&
unmet medical needs in the world, Zhaoke Ophthalmology lives up to Itk JKRIBERIAEE BERER O R EH 08 - - 5
this purpose by instilling a culture that is embodied by the outstanding #KEAED @ BZAECEL  RARFIBEEENRE
capabilities of its employees and management’s desire to constantly B o

challenge themselves in a collaborative, transparent and mutually

supportive manner. These cultural attributes are critical to consistently

delivering the best outcomes.

Guided by the Group’s core values, and its corporate belief of “Better  FAAEEMZNMEERIZRAR  BEALEINLE
Vision, Better Living” ( 2 R 88 B8 - ¥ % A 4 ), the Board, together with 2% EXeBRSAEEEEEETALERE LE
senior management, are instrumental in defining the purpose and EEHHWER  ARATNCEUCEL L TR  AHE
strategic direction of the Group, set the tone and shape the corporate RAEENFAEEBEHFTAR —FE - BAREEEE
culture of the Company to ensure all businesses across the Group are WD EEAEBLENNRBRERE AT RE -
aligned with the same purpose. Alongside the Group’s robust corporate ¥t TETHARE + 2 AREBILL HIR MR -
governance framework and effective risk management and internal control Y EBEAEEMNEREIE - AR E L F L -
systems, the desired culture is developed and reflected consistently in  7EEEH{NEMBEPEHMIE - EESEEHNAES UL
the operating practices and policies of the Group, as well as its relations &&—Z5#EELTE  BIEESSXMHE BB LE
with stakeholders, through active collaboration, effective engagement  BEBENMEESR - 83 ERAEBRBELSE 22N
and regular training at all levels. Board oversight of the culture of the EEAR(BIEEETEIRAEEEMKEE) UNKET
organization encompasses a range of measures and tools, including %% @UETE BFEREEHESSHETNERT
employee engagement, retention and training, robust financial reporting, 1% @ WEEZEE@MNXRE  YRAEEQELENET
whistleblowing, data privacy and security and legal and regulatory ZA£EHXt BELEEHEEZAEERAR - &
compliance (including compliance with the Code of Ethics and other ERAAREENXE - RE - BERERKTRG
policies of the Group), as well as staff safety, wellbeing and support. From  HFAGREXL -

the Board performance evaluation conducted, the Directors are satisfied

with the performance of the Board and acknowledged that the Board plays

an effective role in the development and determination of the Group’s

culture, strategy and overall commercial objective. Taking into account

the corporate culture in a range of contexts, the Board considers that the

culture, purpose, values and strategy of the Group are aligned.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

We are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance corporate
value and accountability. Our Company has adopted the CG Code. During
the Reporting Period, two Audit Committee meetings, four Remuneration
Committee meetings and three Nomination Committee meetings were
held. Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separated and not be performed
by the same individual. Dr. Li Xiaoyi currently serves as both the chairman
of the Board and the CEO. Dr. Li Xiaoyi has been operating and managing
our Group since its establishment, and the Directors consider that the
present arrangement is beneficial to and in the interests of our Company
and our Shareholders as a whole and the deviation from code provision
C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance. For
details, see “- The Board - (6) Chairman and CEO”. Save as disclosed
above, the Directors consider that our Company has complied with
applicable code provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.

THE BOARD
(1) Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
overseeing the Group’s strategic decisions and monitoring business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of the
Group to the senior management of the Group. To oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established five
Board committees including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Investment Committee
and the Executive Committee. The Board has delegated to the Board
committees’ responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference. All Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to perform their duties.
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All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole at all times.

(2) Directors’ and Senior Management’'s

Liability Insurance and Indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Directors and senior management of the Company
for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

(3) Board Composition

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Board comprised
two executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors who held office
during the Reporting Period were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Xiaoyi
Mr. Dai Xiangrong

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee
Ms. Tiantian Zhang

Ms. Cai Li

Mr. Chen Yu

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hin Wing

Prof. Lo Yuk Lam

Mr. Liew Fui Kiang (appointed on June 6, 2022)

Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria (resigned on April 11, 2022)

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee is Dr. Li Xiaoyi’s sister. Save for this,
there is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship(s)) among the Board members.
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Due to the resignation of Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria on April 11, 2022,
our Company had only two independent non-executive Directors
and two members of the Audit Committee from April 11, 2022 to
June 6, 2022. It resulted in (i) the total number of independent
non-executive Directors accounted for less than one-third of Board
members, and hence our Company failed to meet the requirement
of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules during the same period; and
(ii) the number of independent non-executive Directors and the
number of members of the Audit Committee fell below the minimum
number required under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules,
respectively, during the same period. Following the appointment of
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang on June 6, 2022, our Company has fully complied
with the requirements as set out in Rules 3.10A, 3.10(1) and 3.21 of
the Listing Rules.

Under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, at least one independent
non-executive Director should possess appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Mr. Wong Hin Wing, one of the independent non-
executive Directors, has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise as required by
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

(4) Confirmation of Independence by the

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation in writing of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that, during the Reporting Period and up to
the Latest Practicable Date, all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

(5) Induction and Continuous Professional

Development

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director should receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A
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During the Reporting Period, all Directors, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi,
Mr. Dai Xiangrong, Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Tiantian
Zhang, Ms. Cai Li, Mr. Chen Yu, Mr. Wong Hin Wing, Prof. Lo Yuk
Lam, Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria®™ and Mr. Liew Fui Kiang, were regularly
briefed on the amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules
and regulations. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be
arranged and reading material on relevant topics would be provided
to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense.

Note:

(1) On April 11, 2022, Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria resigned as an independent
non-executive Director.

(6) Chairman and CEO

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and not be
performed by the same individual. Dr. Li Xiaoyi currently serves as
both the chairman of the Board and the CEO. Dr. Li Xiaoyi has been
operating and managing our Group since its establishment. Our
Board believes that vesting the roles of both CEO and chairman of
the Board in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership and efficient discharge of executive functions within our
Group. We consider that the balance of power and authority of the
present arrangement will not be impaired as the Board comprises
eight other experienced and high-calibre individuals who would be
able to offer advice from various perspectives. In addition, for major
decisions of our Group, our Board will make consultations with
appropriate Board committees and senior management.

Therefore, our Directors consider that the present arrangement
is beneficial to and in the interests of our Company and our
Shareholders as a whole and the deviation from Code provision
C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance.
The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate
governance structure of our Group in order to assess whether
separation of the roles of chairman of the Board and CEO is
necessary.

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance (which is of critical importance to our
development) to protect the interest of the Shareholders. Save
as disclosed above, our Directors consider that the Company has
complied with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules from the Listing Date and up
to the Latest Practicable Date.
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(7) Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with our Company. The initial term of their respective service
contracts shall commence from the Listing Date and continue for a
period of three years until terminated in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the service contract or by our executive Directors
giving to us not less than 30 days’ prior notice in writing.

Each of the non-executive Directors, Mr. Wong Hin Wing and Prof. Lo
Yuk Lam entered into an appointment letter with our Company. The
initial term for their appointment letters shall commence from the
Listing Date and continue for a period of three years until terminated
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the appointment
letter or by either party giving to the other not less than three
months’ prior notice in writing.

Following the resignation of Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria on April 11,
2022, the Board appointed Mr. Liew Fui Kiang as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from June 6, 2022. Mr. Liew Fui
Kiang also entered into an appointment letter with our Company
as an independent non-executive Director for an initial term of
three years commencing from June 6, 2022 subject to termination
by either party with three months’ prior notice in writing. Mr. Liew
will hold office until the close of the AGM and shall be eligible for
re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at every annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from
office and be eligible for re-election at each annual general meeting,
provided that every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. A retiring Director shall retain office
until the close of the meeting at which he/she retires and shall be
eligible for re-election thereat.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A

(7) EEZEREE

BERTESCRARANLRBE AN - RERAH
RIEEHNIRESE EHRAMRER - A=
F - HERRBRIRBA OO ER GG RBRTE
FARDRBEHTPNI0RNFLEMBAKIE
RBlk-

FRTEFERREEREGHMIREEAER
RAFIMEER - WENTERNIEFHE L
mRERAY - RH=F  BEEZRREERNE
AEGEHRAEA TR T EETDR=(E
HEVSELEEEBAMELLERLL -

REBSBEN2022F4F11HEHER E58
ERERRREERBIIFNTES * 520224F
6 A6 HEAER - BIRE KA TEAR BT BT
FRITESZRERK - VIaFHE2022566A6H
ERH=F BEEdEM—SZ#H=EANEL
EEBALLRIE - RRBEBERMA - B1ELE
BEREBBFASHERDL - AFEERE
HEE -

BEXAHEEEN  EERAEEEFAKE AT
BRI SIS B R S RIS B R EE (R — E
NERLIBAREERKERARN—FATT
BR1E CEERRERIN MR LEVIBERRRID) o

RBEBZRMA - REAAFEERRBFRE
b EREEN=A2 —ER(HEFAZILIE=
F=MEH - AAKEAEETIR=092—0A
BORWMERE iAﬁ$§T§§§i BELES
ARVEB=FHERTI R - RESENELHE
ZH}EEE’JKE,%Eﬁi%i I??éé‘*%EAAJ:&
TEE o

ll



Corporate Governance Report

General Meeting

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once every
year and the Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year.
Due notice should be given for all Board meetings to provide all
Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the
company secretary or the duly appointed secretary of the relevant
Board committees with copies circulated to relevant Board or Board
committee for comments and records.

The Board has established the Investment Committee and Executive
Committee to handle affairs relating to the investment aspects of the
Company, further regulate the governance structure of the Board
and safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.

During the Reporting Period, nine Board meetings, two Audit
Committee meetings, four Remuneration Committee meetings,
three Nomination Committee meetings, four Investment Committee
meetings and 12 Executive Committee meetings were held. A
summary of the attendance record of the Directors at Board
meetings, committee meetings and general meeting is set out in the
following table below:

TEEERWRE

(8) Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and (8) EFE2E2%  Z522ZRKE

AE

BARABHRANIED  EFTESHTHET
FRLOBITNR  WBFERA—R - FHERS
BERLBRTRER  MERREGTFED
RITMREH - MEEFEGHRRETAONE
M HEREEAREHFEIREERUABA
EHEHEAE SRLEM R RANELRHES
ZEGIEAZENMERT - BIRARNBHES
SREFLEEGEN  AHELE R Rk -

BEEECRUREBEZEERBITEREE  AAK
BERARRKRERBNER  NMEBREEFS
BT A RRMEAR RS

RBERMA - AABGRTNLREEEEE W
REVZEGSH ORFHEESEHE =X
REZBEEH  WAKREZEGEHKRI2AH
TRZEEEZ  TRBJIEENEFSEHR X
BEEERMRASN L ELHENE

Audit Remuneration Nomination Investment Executive General
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Name of Director 42 31 BRZEE §Mzag REZEE REZBE #7288 BRRAE
Executive Directors: WITES:
Dr. Li Xiaoyi TR 9 - - 3 4 12 1
Mr. Dai Xiangrong AmREE 9 - - - - 12 1
Non-executive Directors: FHUTES
Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee — ZfEfEit 9 - - - - - 1
Ms. Tiantian Zhang REHRL 9 - 4 - - - 1
Ms. Cai Li 2zt 9 2 - - - - 1
Mr. Chen Yu REEL 9 - - - - - 1
Independent Non-executive Bui#7E%:
Directors:
Mr. Wong Hin Wing BRRRE 9 2 4 3 4 - 1
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam ke e 9 - 4 3 4 - 1
Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria EBSERE
(resigned on April 11, 2022) (R2022%
4/11R8H) 3 1 - - - - -
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang AEREE
(appointed on June 6, 2022) (R2022%
6H6HEZIF) 4 1 - - - - -

During the Reporting Period, the chairman of the Board has also held
a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of the other Directors in accordance with the code
provision C.2.7 in part 2 of the CG Code.

NREMA - EFGIRNRGRREEE AT
FE D RFRMEXC.2.7EEMEERFE T HE
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The Board has reviewed the contribution required from each Director
to perform their responsibilities to the Company and is satisfied that
each of Directors has been spending sufficient time in performing
their responsibilities during the Reporting Period.

(9) Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its securities code to regulate the dealing by the
Directors in securities of the Company.

Having made specific inquiry of all Directors, all of them have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code during the
Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date. No incident
of non-compliance of the Model Code by the employees who are
likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company was
noted by the Company.

(10) Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of
the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional
advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and
are encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the Company’s needs. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management on the Company’s behalf.

(11) Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors and has delegated the corporate
governance duties to the Audit Committee which include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;
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(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors of
the Company; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report of the
Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

(1) Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As
at the Latest Practicable Date, the Nomination Committee comprises
one executive Director, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Prof. Lo Yuk Lam and Mr. Wong Hin
Wing. Dr. Li Xiaoyi is the chairman of the committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, diversity, size and composition of the Board, assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and to
make recommendations to the Board regarding the appointment of
Directors and Board succession. The written terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are available on the respective website
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee meetings
were held on March 23, 2022, June 3, 2022 and August 24, 2022.
The attendance record of the committee members is set out in the
section headed “- The Board - (8) Board Meetings, Committee
Meetings and General Meeting” of this corporate governance
report. The following is a summary of key work performed by the
Nomination Committee during the Reporting Period:

. assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

. reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

. reviewed the revised board diversity policy of our Company (the

“Board Diversity Policy”) and Directors nomination policy
(the “Nomination Policy”) and made recommendations to
the Board for approval;

. made recommendations to the Board on the re-election of
Directors at the annual general meeting held in 2022; and

. made recommendations to the Board on nomination of Mr.
Liew Fui Kiang as an independent non-executive Director.
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The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent
on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit
time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision.

(2) Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy for evaluating
and appointing any candidate for directorship. The Nomination
Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure its effectiveness. A summary of the Nomination policy is set

out below:

Purpose The Nomination Policy sets out the
approach to guide the Nomination
Committee in relation to the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of the
Directors.

Selection Criteria The Nomination Committee would

consider the following criteria, including,
among other things, character and
integrity, qualifications (cultural and
educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience and diversity aspects under
the Board Diversity Policy), any potential
contributions the candidate can bring
to the Board in terms of qualifications,
skills, experience, independence and
diversity, and willingness and ability
to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board or
Board committee(s).

Nomination Procedure The Nomination Committee will
recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance
with the following procedures and
processes as set out in the Nomination
Policy:

. the Nomination Committee will,
giving consideration to the current
composition and size of the Board,
develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at
the outset to focus the search
effort on suitable candidates,
where necessary;
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the Nomination Committee may
consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying or
selecting suitable candidates,
such as referrals from existing
Directors, advertisements,
recommendations from an
independent agency firm and
proposals from Shareholders
with due consideration given
to the criteria as set out in the
Nomination Policy;

the Nomination Committee may
adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the
suitability of the candidates,
such as conducting interviews,
background checks, presentations
and third-party reference checks;

upon considering a candidate
suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold
a meeting or by way of written
resolutions to, if thought fit,
approve the recommendation to
the Board for appointment;

the Nomination Committee
will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board
in relation to the proposed
appointment and the proposed
remuneration package; and

the Board will have the final
authority in determining the
selection of nominees and all
appointment of Directors will
be confirmed by the filing of
the consent to act as Director
of the relevant Director (or any
other similar filings requiring the
relevant Director to acknowledge
or accept the appointment as
Director, as the case may be).
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In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regard to the benefits of diversity on
the Board. During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
made recommendation to the Board on nomination of Mr. Liew Fui
Kiang as an independent non-executive Director to fill the casual
vacancy created by the resignment of Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria in
accordance with the Nomination Policy abovementioned.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy for achieving
and maintaining diversity on the Board. The Company recognizes
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Boar and sees
increasing diversity at the Board level, including gender diversity,
as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage and enhancing its ability to attract, retain and motivate
employees from the widest possible pool of available talent. A
summary of the Board Diversity Policy is set out below:

Purpose The Board Diversity Policy aims to set
out the approach to achieve diversity
of the Board and enable the Board to
comply with the CG Code.

Policy Statement The Company considers increasing

diversity at the Board level as an

essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. All

Board appointments will be based on

meritocracy, and candidates will be

considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Measurable Objectives Selection of candidates will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background,
industry experience, technical
capabilities, professional qualifications
and skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Board should also take
into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from
time to time. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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Progress on Achieving The Board will take the opportunity
the Objectives to increase the proportion of female
members over time when selecting and
making recommendation on suitable
candidates for Board appointments.
The Board will ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved
with reference to stakeholders’
expectation and international and local
recommended best practices, with the
ultimate goal of bringing the Board to
gender parity. The Board also aspires
to having an appropriate proportion of
Directors who have direct experience in
our Group’s core markets, with different
ethnic backgrounds, and reflecting our
strategy.

The Nomination Committee and the Board have reviewed the
diversity of the Board and the Board Diversity Policy for the
Reporting Period. As of December 31, 2022, the diversity profile of
the Board is analyzed as follows:

. the Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including
overall management, business development, R&D, quality
control, public relationships, regulatory affairs and corporate
finance;

. the Board members also consist of six males and three
females, with two executive Directors, four non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors, of
ages ranging from 39 to 74; and

. the education background of the Directors includes
pharmacology, biochemistry, business administration,
management science and engineering, finance and
accountancy, with degrees awarded by education institutions
in the PRC, Hong Kong and the United States.
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As of the Latest Practicable Date, the composition of the Board is
six males and three females (namely Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee,
Ms. Tiantian Zhang and Ms. Cai Li). The diversity of the Board is
illustrated as below. Further details on the bios and experience of
the Directors are set out on pages 41 to 47 of this annual report.

Executive
Director

WiTES S

Non-Executive 6
Director

FERMITES

Independent
Non-Executive
Director 3

BNIFMTES egid

Female

Position Gender
B f331]

As of December 31, 2022, the gender ratio of the workforce
(including executive Directors and senior management) of the Group
is approximately 163 female per 130 male, and the gender ratio
of the senior management (including executive Directors) of the
Group is approximately five female per nine male. The diversity of
workforce of our Company is illustrated as below.
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Considering gender diversity, the Nomination Committee recognized
that the Company has been sufficiently diverse at both the Board
and workforce levels. Considering the structure diversity, the
Nomination Committee was also of the opinion that the structure
of Board is reasonable, equipping a balanced mix of skill-set,
experience, expertise, and diversity which enhances decision-making
capability and the overall effectiveness of the Board in achieving
sustainable business operation and enhancing Shareholder value.

Going forward, the Company will engage more resources in training
female staff who have long and relevant experience in the catering
industry, with the aim of promoting them to the senior management
or directorship of our Group. We expect to have more female
members who would be qualified to sit on the Board in the future.
We also welcome all gender to join. The recruitment strategy is to
employ a right staff for a right position regardless of gender. The
Company commits to providing equal opportunities to our staff in
respect of recruitment, training and development, job advancement,
and remuneration and benefits.

The Board and Nomination Committee will continue to consider
setting measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity
Policy and review such objectives from time to time to ensure
their appropriateness and ascertain continuous compliance by the
Company with the board diversity requirement under the Listing
Rules, including gender diversity.

(3) Remuneration Committee

Remuneration Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As at
the Latest Practicable Date, the Remuneration Committee comprises
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Prof. Lo Yuk Lam
and Mr. Wong Hin Wing, and one non-executive Director, namely Ms.
Tiantian Zhang. Prof. Lo Yuk Lam is the chairman of the committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but
are not limited to, the following: (i) assessing performance of
executive Directors; (ii) making recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing the policy on such remuneration; (iii)
determining the specific remuneration packages of all Directors and
senior management; (iv) reviewing and approving performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time; and (v) reviewing and
approving matters relating to share schemes in accordance with
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

On December 22, 2022, the Company made amendments to the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee regarding
reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as to comply with the Listing Rules
as amended. For details, please refer to the amended terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee published at the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee meetings
were held on March 23, 2022, June 3, 2022, August 24, 2022
and December 1, 2022. The attendance record of the committee
members is set out in the section headed “- The Board - (8)
Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meeting” of
this corporate governance report. The following is a summary of
key work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
Reporting Period:

. made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of the individual executive Directors and senior
management;

. reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the

Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management;

. reviewed and revised the terms of reference of Remuneration
Committee and made recommendation to the Board for
approval;

. reviewed and approved the grant and/or conditionally grant

(as the case maybe) of a total of 7,820,000 options to certain
Directors, senior management and employees in respective of
their service for our Company under the Listing Rules and the
terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme; and

. reviewed the performance of duties of Directors and senior
management of our Company and conducted annual
performance appraisals on them.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the second model
described in code provision E.1.2(c) in Part 2 of the CG Code (i.e.
make recommendation to our Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior management
of the Company).

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries and
allowances, performance-based bonuses, share-based payments
and retirement benefit scheme contributions of the relevant
Directors) payable to the Directors for the year ended December
31, 2022 was approximately RMB25.6 million. The remuneration
of the Directors is determined with reference to salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors and performance of the Group. Details of the remuneration
of the Directors and the senior management of our Company are set
out in Note 9 to the Financial Statements.
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Remuneration by band of the senior management (including two
Directors) of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022 are
set out below:

TEEERWRE

HZE2022F12 A31 8 It FERFTMEE S H 0
AEERREREAB(BEMBES)FHEHIM
T~

Number of senior

Remuneration band (HK$) management
FeNesE (o) EREBABAY
0-5,000,000 11
5,000,001-10,000,000 3

(4) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established by the Board with its written
terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As at
the Latest Practicable Date, the Audit Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Hin Wing
and Mr. Liew Fui Kiang, and one non-executive Director, namely Ms.
Cai Li. Mr. Wong Hin Wing, being the chairman of the committee, is
appropriately qualified as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of
the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and the risk management
and internal controls system of the Group, review the financial
information of the Company, review the effectiveness of the internal
audit function, consider issues relating to the external auditors
and their appointment, review and approve connected transactions
and advise the Board. The Audit Committee is also responsible for
integrity audit and inspection in accordance with the whistleblowing
policy, which provides proper arrangements for employees, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control and other matters. The whistleblowing
policy aims to provide reporting channels and guidance on reporting
possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other
matters, and reassurance to persons reporting their concerns under
this policy of the protection that the Company will extend to them
against unfair disciplinary action or victimization for any genuine
reports made.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee met twice with
the auditors to review, among others, the annual results for the year
ended December 31, 2021 and the interim results for the six months
ended June 30, 2022 in accordance to code provisions of the CG
Code and the terms of reference of the Audit Committee.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee meetings were
held on March 23, 2022 and August 24, 2022. The attendance record
of the committee members is set out in "~ The Board - (8) Board
Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meeting.” The following
is a summary of key work performed by the Audit Committee during
the Reporting Period:

. reviewed together with the management the accounting
principles and policies adopted by us, and the accuracy and
fairness of the consolidated financial statements for the
financial year ended December 31, 2021 and for the six
months ended June 30, 2022, respectively;

. reviewed the risk management and internal control systems
and the effectiveness of internal audit function and discussed
with the management and internal audit on their findings. For
details, please refer to the section headed “- Risk Management
and Internal Control” of this corporate governance report;

. performed annual review of the non-exempt continuing
connected transactions of our Group for the year ended
December 31, 2021;

. recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of external
auditor at the annual general meeting held in 2022; and

. approved the audit plan for the financial year ended December
31, 2022, reviewed the independence of external auditor and
approved its engagement.

(5) Investment Committee

The Investment Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As
at the Latest Practicable Date, the Investment Committee comprises
one Executive Director, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Hin Wing and Prof. Lo
Yuk Lam. Mr. Wong Hin Wing is the chairman of the committee.

The primary duties of the Investment Committee are to review
proposed investments, make recommendations to the Board of
Directors, make subsequent assessments of investments, and review
and consider the overall investment strategy, direction and business
development of the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Investment Committee meetings
were held on April 28, 2022, April 29, 2022, May 3, 2022 and
November 1, 2022. The attendance record of the committee
members is set out in “- The Board - (8) Board Meetings,
Committee Meetings and General Meeting.” The following is a
summary of key work performed by the Investment Committee
during the Reporting Period:

. reviewed, evaluated and proposed to the Board for approval
any investment project;

. reviewed and set the annual investment plan of the Company;
and
. determined whether the proposed investment project is in

the interests of the Company and the Shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

(6) Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As
at the Latest Practicable Date, the Executive Committee comprises
two executive Directors, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi and Mr. Dai Xiangrong,
Company’s CSO, Dr. Lau Lit Fui, Company’s CBO and CFO, Ms. Feng
Xinyan and Company’s CMO, Dr. Albert Tsai Jr. The chairman of the
committee is Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

The primary duties of the Executive Committee are to manage the
day-to-day activities of our business through (i) developing and
implementing strategy, operational plans, policies, procedures
and budgets; (ii) deriving and monitoring operating and financial
performance; (iii) assessing and controlling risks; and (iv)
prioritizing and allocating resources.

During the Reporting Period, the Executive Committee meetings
were held on the last working day of each month. The attendance
record of the committee members is set out in "~ The Board - (8)
Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meeting.” The
following is a summary of key work performed by the Executive
Committee during the Reporting Period:

. developed and implemented strategy, operational plans,
policies, procedures and budgets of the Group as a whole;

. drove and monitored operating and financial performance on
monthly bases; and

. prioritized and allocated resources on daily operation and each
R&D project.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Financial
Statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 which give a true and
fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s
results and cash flows.

The management of the Company has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the Financial Statements, which are
put to the Board for approval. The Company provides all members of the
Board with monthly updates on Company’s performance, positions and
prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the Financial Statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report in this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges it is responsible for the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks (including ESG risk), it is willing to
take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design and implementation, and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.
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Aimed at providing reasonable assurance against material errors, losses  A#t¥EAER  BRFMFRHESIERE - ROAZH
or fraud, we have developed and adopted various risk management &I MIRATREEREIRRRF @ B4E N2
procedures, which comprised the following steps:

. Risk identification: Identify major and significant risks that could e ARk BRI EENASREEENEE
affect the achievement of goals of our Group; MERRER

. Risk assessment: Assess and evaluate the identified risk according e RS - FHE R EE #R R AR E R
to its likely impact and the likelihood of occurrence; and BAERAREME R

o Risk mitigation: Develop effective control activities to mitigate the e RUREBE - HIFTH M B E B LUR R
risks.

In addition, we developed guidelines with defined authority for  toh RFIEHIEIES] - BBETEEBREF L ABEE
implementation by key business processes and office functions. All  BA#ESHETAESR - ST E HPHETT R EIETE -
departments conducted internal control assessments regularly to identify — DAGRIRIREF ENEFER AN T BLE L BRF -
risks that potentially impact the business of our Group and various aspects, EEAREEARLETRBEAER °

including key operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance

and information security.

The management, in coordination with department heads, assessed the  EIREBEIMFITEHFETEEBRZE AN - HI5T
likelihood of risk occurrence, provided treatment plans, monitored the EBEAFENEZRGEEEE VTRAEZZEGLES
risk management progress, and reported to the Audit Committee and the  SEFRFTEFAEERNELHKA - BBERME TR
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the systems. Through our EENFHITHESGREBEER I - R F2EME
current risk management and the newly established ESG risk management  E1REAER - ROV N FESABRERBEZ % 5
statement, we could therefore cover various types of risks more  SHRGEREZFRAESKE - HARRSEEIIR
comprehensively. We are devoted to maximizing Shareholders value while 72 - ZESZSHNMEREARE - AHIREER - RN
ensuring the risk is at an acceptable level. We provide various training ¥ EEFAABREREFEAEEIERE  VARBE
programs to keep our employees updated on relevant laws, regulations  ZE$IEFIBI2 NS HEEEME IS - RAWES TR
and policies. Our new employees are required to attend compliance FHFEHHFEMETELG FIEJIEAES - FRSMNEHE
training programs soon after on-boarding, and must pass tests that  BAENMROINZHERE -

examine their understanding of the compliance issues addressed by the

training programs. Our employees are also required to regularly attend

further onsite and online training sessions to keep them informed of the

recent updates in the relevant laws and regulations.

We have formulated an information disclosure management system to HFIEHIEEREBRERGE @ B5MBEALHNIERSE
clarify the relevant obligations of insiders, reporting procedures and % RERFMABAENERBREET  WETH
information disclosure responsibilities of relevant personnel, and arrange  #{TAREDL - AEEERAEHBORNENEE - UL
self-inspection in a timely manner. The Group monitors possible inside HFNREETEHNETBEN NS EERETETERE -
information and organizes intermediary agencies to determine whether the

information is inside information or whether needs to be disclosed.

We have formulated the whistleblowing policy for employees to raise KD AEEHIFLERHE @ ERELVIRBELE -
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties in operation, HBERKEMEBBAIGELETNETANET - AL
financial reporting or other matters. Such arrangement will be reviewed HHSHBEZZESH - UERERR AT B 0TS R
by the Audit Committee which ensures that proper arrangement is in place ~ EE{EHZELHE -

for fair and independent investigation of the matters.

We also issued prevention of bribery and corruption policy to ensure /S 2B IEFEIE R ETHEE - ARERIEE MBX

employees are aware of anti-corruption laws and regulations and EFAEREMIUNEEST -
regulatory obligations.
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Our Company reviews risk management and internal control systems once
a year. Our Group’s internal control and risk management reports for the
year ended December 31, 2022 were submitted to the Audit Committee
and the Board of Directors for review in March 2023. The Board, as
supported by the Audit Committee as well as the management, reviewed
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems,
including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the year
ended December 31, 2022, and considered that such systems are effective
and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial reporting and
internal audit function, qualifications, experiences, training programmes
and relevant resources.

Also, the Board engaged KPMG to assess the effectiveness of our Group’s
risk management and internal control systems once a year, which covered
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls as well as risk management functions during the year ended
December 31, 2022. The assessment report was reviewed by the Audit
Committee and the Board. No major issue was raised for improvement.
The Board is satisfied with the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems of our Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Audit fees of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022 payable to
the external auditors were approximately RMB2.2 million and the Group
incurred approximately RMB1.0 million in 2022 for non-audit services
related to review of interim financial information and other advisory
services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Yau Suk Yan
undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to
update her skills and knowledge during the Reporting Period.

GENERAL MEETING

The AGM is scheduled to be held on May 25, 2023. A notice convening the
AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders of our Company
in the manner required by the Listing Rules in due course.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

We consider that effective communication with the Shareholders is essential
for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the Shareholders
and potential investors on our business, performance and strategies.
We also recognize the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure
of information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make
informed investment decisions.

We have adopted the Shareholders communication policy with the
objective of ensuring that the Shareholders and potential investors
are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about our Company. To promote effective
communication, we have established several channels to communicate
with the Shareholders as follows:

. corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports
and circulars are issued in printed form and are available on the
Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk and our Company’s
website at zkoph.com;

° periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the respective website of the Stock Exchange and our
Company, where up-to-date information on our Company’s business
operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for public

access;
° corporate information is made available on our Company’s website;
. annual and extraordinary general meetings provide a forum for

the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and senior management. The chairman of the Board will
attend the AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions; and

. the Hong Kong branch share registrar of our Company serves the
Shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend payment and
related matters.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ communication policy conducted during the Reporting Period
regularly and considered that it is effective and adequately implemented.
The Board will continue to review the Shareholders’ communication policy
regularly to ensure its effectiveness.

We keep on promoting investor relations and enhancing communication
with the current Shareholders and potential investors. It welcomes
suggestions from investors, stakeholders and the public. Inquires to
the Board or the Company may be sent by post to our principal place of
business in Hong Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
will be proposed by the chairman of that meeting for each substantially
separate issue at Shareholder meetings, including nomination and election
of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholder meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after
each Shareholder meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

(1) Procedures for Shareholders to convene
an extraordinary general meeting

In accordance with Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened
on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

(2) Procedures for putting forward proposals
at general meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. However, Shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 64 of the Articles of Association for
requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting and including a
resolution at such meeting. The requirements and procedures of
Article 64 are set out above.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A

IR R R

BREREER LR REAREBEAE LREH
AY BB HFE(RERAEREEE)REBY
HIRBAR -

RERAE ERZMAERZBRBRE LRGSR
FRETRR  REERENSBRRASETRIREL
TR R R AR R R B S P AR U B 3 -

(1) BREHRREIIAEHES

REAMERAM[FEAG EFTURERRA
BRRHEAFRBRREIAE - RRFHIRZIRA]
B RAZBRREREH  ZERRVERH
KEEAAKEARRRBFRATIN T Z—
YERERRAE LIKER - BRABKANEAL
AAEFFAARAMERL - EUBRkEFEH
BR¥2 75 A Z Sk PR AR eV (R o] S 75 T 3 B AR SR A
ARG - FHERAERIZFRERMEARNE
B NEESEFRERZ BN 2IRARE
ETRFERBAEER  RFERA(RSEREL
NARERTAETARER - BFRARES
BRBEROHEEMABNMEREER A
MARAMEEBRA -

(2) RRRACIEZEBRIESF

FMEHEAREL BRI AFBRRBERAS L
REFAER - AW - BRROKIR2REER - 7
RFBASERAMBE64E  ZRAFBRFERIX
BINE LRERER - BOAENERREZFE
R EX -

ERRMARERESENEFINARARENE
R o



Corporate Governance Report

(3) Enquires to the Board

Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests
to the Company as follows:

Address: Unit 716, 7/F, Building 12W, Phase 3,

Hong Kong Science Park, Shatin, Hong Kong

Email:

DIVIDEND POLICY

info@zkoph.com

The Company was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability and continued in the Cayman Islands. We have never declared or
paid any dividends on our ordinary Shares or preferred shares. We may
need dividends and other distributions on equity from our PRC subsidiaries
to satisfy our liquidity requirements. Current PRC regulations permit our
PRC subsidiaries to pay dividends to us only out of their accumulated
profits, if any, determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards
and regulations. In addition, our PRC subsidiaries are required to set aside
at least 10% of their respective accumulated profits each year, if any, to
fund certain reserve funds until the total amount set aside reaches 50% of
their respective registered capital. Our PRC subsidiaries may also allocate
a portion of its after-tax profits based on PRC accounting standards to
employee welfare and bonus funds at their discretion. These reserves are
not distributable as cash dividends. Furthermore, if our PRC subsidiaries
incur debt on their own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the
debt may restrict their ability to pay dividends or make other payments
to us. In addition, the PRC tax authorities may require us to adjust our
taxable income under the contractual arrangements we currently have
in place in a manner that would materially and adversely affect our PRC
subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends and other distributions to us.

The Company currently intends to retain all available funds and any
future earnings, if any, to fund the R&D of our drug candidates and we do
not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any
declaration and payment as well as the amount of dividends will be subject
to our constitutional documents and the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. The declaration and payment of any dividends in the future will be
determined by our Board of Directors, in its discretion, and will depend on
a number of factors, including our earnings, capital requirements, overall
financial conditions and contractual restrictions. Our Shareholders in a
general meeting may approve any declaration of dividends, which must
not exceed the amount recommended by our Board. As advised by our
Cayman Islands counsel, under the Cayman Islands law a company may
declare and pay a dividend out of either profits or share premium account,
provided that in no circumstances may a dividend be declared or paid if
this would result in the company being unable to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. Investors should not purchase our
Shares with the expectation of receiving cash dividends.
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If we pay dividends in the future, in order for us to distribute dividends
to our Shareholders, we will rely to some extent on any dividends
distributed by our PRC subsidiaries. Any dividend distributions from
our PRC subsidiaries to us will be subject to PRC withholding tax. In
addition, regulations in the PRC currently permit payment of dividends
of a PRC company only out of accumulated distributable after-tax profits
as determined in accordance with its articles of association and the
accounting standards and regulations in China. For details, please refer to
the paragraphs headed “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Doing Business in
China - We may rely on dividends and other distributions on equity paid
by our PRC subsidiary to fund any cash and financing requirements we
may have, and any limitation on the ability of our PRC subsidiary to make
payments to us could have a material and adverse effect on our ability to
conduct our business” of the Prospectus.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

On March 23, 2022, the Board has resolved to propose the adoption
of the amended and restated Articles of Association to conform to the
amended Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules under the new listing regime for
overseas issuers which took effect on January 1, 2022, which streamlines
and standardizes a uniform set of 14 core standards for shareholder
protections for all issuers regardless of their place of incorporation. The
proposed adoption of the amended and restated Articles of Association is
subject to the approval by the Shareholders by way of a special resolution
at the annual general meeting held on May 31, 2022. The amended and
restated Articles of Association has become effective since May 31, 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change in constitutional
documents of the Company during the Reporting Period.
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The Board of the Company is pleased to present this report of Directors
together with the Financial Statements for the year ended December 31,
2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Board comprised two
executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The director who held office during the Reporting
Period were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Xiaoyi (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Dai Xiangrong

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun
Ms. Tiantian Zhang
Ms. Cai Li

Mr. Chen Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hin Wing

Prof. Lo Yuk Lam

Mr. Liew Fui Kiang (appointed on June 6, 2022)

Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria (resigned on April 11, 2022)

Save for the resignation of Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria as an independent
non-executive Director which took effect from April 11, 2022, all the
abovenamed Directors remained as Directors of the Company up to the
Latest Practicable Date.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on January 20,
2017 with limited liability and continued in the Cayman Islands on April
29, 2021 as an exempted company with limited liability. The Company’s
Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on April 29,
2021.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are an ophthalmic pharmaceutical company dedicated to the research,
development and commercialization of therapies that address significant
unmet medical needs in China. Leveraging our deep domain expertise,
we have built a comprehensive ophthalmic drug pipeline of 26 candidates
that covers most major ocular indications affecting the front and the back
of the eye, through either in-house development or in-licensing. We have
also established an advanced ophthalmic manufacturing facility and are
assembling an experienced marketing team in anticipation of near-term
product launch.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including a discussion and analysis on the Group’s future business
development and the financial and operational key performance indicators
employed by the Directors in measuring the performance of the Group’s
business is set out in the sections headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 14 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following list is a summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group, some of which are beyond its control:

. Our business and financial prospects depend substantially on the
success of our drug candidates, all of which are in preclinical or
clinical development. If we are unable to successfully develop and
commercialize our drug candidates, or experience significant delays
in doing any of the foregoing, our business may be materially
harmed.

. We may not be able to identify, discover or in-license new drug
candidates, and may allocate our limited resources to pursue a
particular drug candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on drug
candidates or indications that may later prove to be more profitable,
or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

o The R&D of our drug candidates involves a lengthy and expensive
process with an uncertain outcome, and results of earlier studies
and trials may not be predictive of future trial results.

° If we encounter difficulties enrolling patients in our clinical trials, our
clinical trials and the commercialization of our drug candidates could
be delayed or otherwise adversely affected.

° We may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing,

or may ultimately be unable to complete, the development and
commercialization of our drug candidates.
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° We may be unable to obtain, or experience delays in obtaining,
required regulatory approvals for our drug candidates in our target
markets.

. Our drug candidates, if and when approved, will be subject to

ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review,
which may result in significant additional expenses and we
may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory
requirements.

. Our future approved drugs may fail to achieve the degree of market
acceptance by ophthalmologists, patients, third-party payers and
others in the medical community necessary for commercial success.

° We have limited experience in launching and marketing drug
candidates, and we may not be able to successfully create or
increase market awareness of our products or sell our products,
which will materially affect our ability to generate product sales
revenue.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to
make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors before
making any investment in the Shares.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environment and
giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth.

The Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be
prepared together with this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied
in all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the
year ended December 31, 2022, there was no material breach of, or non-
compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

A review of the employees and remuneration policies of the Group for
the Reporting Period are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on page 40 of this annual report.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and not previously covered by the
defined benefit retirement plan. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the
plan vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labor rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
in the PRC participates in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
(the "RBS Schemes”) organized by the local government authorities
whereby the Company and its subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
make contributions to the RBS Schemes based on certain percentages
of the eligible employee’s salaries. The local government authorities
are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired
employees.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, there were no forfeited
contributions under the RBS Schemes. Accordingly, no forfeited
contribution was utilized during the year, and there was no forfeited
contribution available as of December 31, 2022, to reduce the level of
contributions.

Details of the pension contributions of the Company are set out in Note 7
to the Financial Statements in this annual report.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group’s suppliers primarily
consisted of (i) CROs, who provided contracting services for R&D; and (ii)
suppliers of raw materials, reference drugs, machinery and equipment used
in the R&D and manufacturing activities.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers in the aggregate amounted to RMB33.8 million,
accounted for 20.1% of the Group’s total purchases for the same year.

Lee’s Pharm Hefei was an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm,
our Substantial Shareholder, and the Group’s largest supplier during
the Reporting Period. Purchases from Lee’s Pharm Hefei for the year
ended December 31, 2022 amounted to RMB15.1 million, accounting for
approximately 9.0% of the Group’s total purchase amount for the same
year.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates, or any Shareholder of the Company who, to the knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued capital, has
any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group did not experience
any significant disputes with its suppliers.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not commenced any
commercialization. We did not generate any revenue during the Reporting
Period and thus we did not have any major customer during the same
period.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including suppliers,
employees, Shareholders and other business associates are key to Group’s
success. The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability through
engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with them.

Relationship with Our Suppliers

We maintained good and stable relationship with our existing suppliers.
When procurement of raw materials or services or procurement from new
suppliers is necessary, we would strictly follow our internal procurement
policy to select suppliers, raw materials or services. For selecting
CRO service providers, our procurement team normally requests the
potential supplier to provide, among others, its industrial background
and credentials, an initial service plan designed by the CRO service
provider and the quotations with breakdown of detailed components
of the CRO services and procedures involved. Furthermore, our
procurement department routinely monitors market price for procurement
of raw materials and relevant services necessary for our business, for
benchmarking and cost control purposes.

Relationship with Our Employees

We endeavor to cultivate talented and loyal employees by treating our
employees with dignity, respect and fairness. We conduct new employee
training, as well as professional and compliance training programs for
employees. We enter into employment contracts with our employees to
cover matters such as wages, benefits and grounds for termination. The
remuneration package of our employees usually includes salary, bonus
and share option incentives, which are generally determined by their
qualifications, industry experience, position and performance. We make
contributions to social insurance and housing provident funds as required
by the applicable laws and regulations.

Relationship with Our Licensing Partners and
Business Partners

We maintain long-term relationships and effective communication with
our licensing partners and business partners to better achieve corporate
goals, through leveraging their resources and established capabilities. We
believe that licensing arrangements and business partnerships are in the
interests of our Shareholders as a whole.
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Relationship with Shareholders

We recognize the importance of protecting the interests of the
Shareholders and of having effective communication with them. We
believe communication with the Shareholders is a two-way process
and have thrived to ensure the quality and effectiveness of information
disclosure, maintain regular dialogue with the Shareholders and listen
carefully to the views and feedback from the Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company are set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 41 to 53 of this annual report.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF THE DIRECTORS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
our Company. The initial term of their respective service contracts shall
commence for a period of three years until terminated in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the service contract or by our executive
Directors giving to us not less than 30 days’ prior notice in writing.

Each of our non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into an appointment letter with our Company. The
initial term for their appointment letters shall commence for a period of
three years until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the appointment letter or by either party giving to the other not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall submit himself/herself for
re-election by Shareholders at the first general meeting of the Company
after appointment and any new Director appointed as an addition to the
Board shall submit himself/herself for re-election by the Shareholders
at the next following annual general meeting of the Company after
appointment.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
a service contract with the Company or any member of the Group which
is not determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE IS IR 1D S R R O REF
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended  BZARERFFBEEIN - REE2022F12 A31 8 IF4F
December 31, 2022 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to  EERERE - AR A S EE MK B A& L E AL
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means  #F - {#& 5 a] #5 U AR Q 7S E ] EfthJE A B EE A IR
of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any  sifEHEEMERZ  MESEHTMHEENEB185%M
other body corporate; and none of the Directors, or any of their spouse or T~ F & A TA#EFREARRQ RS EMAARER
children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for equity or debt Wi E#E % - IMEITET( B BT -

securities of the Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised

any such right.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND ES=RIHBEEHMALHEH
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code, the MR FMRAIE3.25ERPEEASTE » AATEK
Company has established the Remuneration Committee to formulate Y#HMEESFITHMEE - HFHHIENSEENSR
remuneration policies. The remuneration is determined and recommended EEABMER  BULFEETE LER - 2RBUIE
based on each Director’s and senior management personnel’s qualification, #TE%E  HENFHHEESKTFNZESNERE
position and seniority. As for the independent non-executive Directors, T °-EZZEhSREEAEHAE N AREERFEREST
their remuneration is determined by the Board upon recommendation from  #| & B XA EEBERETEINAER2EE o

the Remuneration Committee. The Directors and the senior management

personnel are eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, CEO and the five highest paid E% « (THAH LK AR RS HFA TR REHNHHES
individuals for the Reporting Period are set out in Note 10 to the Financial A BEMT10 - RIBEERN - HESEHRENF
Statements. During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors waived or  ENEE[IFEH - MAEEFERERNES NI E
agreed to waive any remuneration and there was no emoluments paid by  AHIAAEE SR HIAANE B8 ) 2@ ek (E AR E -
the Group to any of the Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining

the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN EERNEERS  REHIEHIN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR R
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors nor any  BRAFRETIHTEEIN  HESENLEEEEBENTM
entity connected with the Directors had a material interest, either directly HEEEKBERAAT  EEEATSETAHER
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance,  RIkKFARM B R R ZNEZE2022F12A31 8 1LF
whether for the provision of services or otherwise, to the Group to which  ERSEREFE - YARERM S BEA(TmBERIEHE
the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow  RESKEMER)OTARZS « ZHA LR HEEEAE
subsidiaries was a party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended s o

December 31, 2022.
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INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Since the Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the Company
did not have a Controlling Shareholder.

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Each of Dr. Li Xiaoyi and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun currently serves as a
director in Lee’s Pharm. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the remaining
business of the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group includes an ophthalmic
drug, namely Eyprotor, which is indicated for healing of tissue without
angiogenesis effect, while our product candidates include adapalene/
clindamycin hydrochloride compound gel ("TACCG"”), a dermatological
drug candidate for the treatment of moderate acne vulgaris. Each of Lee’s
Pharm and our Company considers that the existence of Eyprotor and
ACCG will not affect the business delineation and give rise to any material
competition between our Group and the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group for
the reasons set out in the section headed “Relationship with Lee’s Pharm -
Delineation of Business between the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group and our
Group - Delineation of Businesses” of the Prospectus.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi resigned from all his executive positions in Lee’s Pharm
prior to Listing and currently only serves as a non-executive director in
Lee’s Pharm. Although Ms. Leelalertsuphakun currently still serves as an
executive director and managing director in Lee’s Pharm, she only takes a
non-executive role in our Company and will not hold any executive senior
management position within our Group. Our Directors are of the view that
our Group will be managed and will operate independently of Lee’s Pharm
in the interests of our Shareholders as a whole. For further details about
the independence of our Company from the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group,
please see the section headed “Relationship with Lee’s Pharm” of the
Prospectus.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and save for their respective interests
in the Group, none of the Directors was interested in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

From time to time our non-executive Directors may serve on the boards
of both private and public companies within the broader healthcare
and biopharmaceutical industries. However, as these non-executive
Directors are neither our Controlling Shareholders nor members of our
executive management team, we do not believe that their interests in
such companies as directors would render us incapable of carrying on our
business independently from the other companies in which they may hold
directorships from time to time.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered or
existed during the year ended December 31, 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in Note 26 to the Financial
Statements, the following transactions constitute connected transactions
for the Company under Rule 14A.23 of the Listing Rules and are required
to be disclosed in this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.71 of
the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that the other related party
transactions do not fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or
“continuing connected transaction” (as the case may be) under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules and complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Please see below the
information required to be disclosed in compliance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

One-off Connected Transaction

Lease Agreement

Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lee’s
Pharm, our Substantial Shareholder. Under the Listing Rules, Lee’s Pharm
Guangzhou is regarded as our connected person. Pursuant to the lease
agreement (the “"Lease Agreement”) entered into between Zhaoke
Guangzhou (as lessee) and Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou (as lessor) on March
1, 2022, Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou agreed to lease to our Group the
premises consists of seven plots with a total gross area of approximately
11,258 sg.m., which located at Zhujiang Industrial Park, Nansha District,
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, PRC, for our uses as office, production
plant and warehouse. The terms of the Lease Agreement will expire on
January 1, 2025, with a piece of plot lease from August 1, 2022.

The total rental fee under the Lease Agreement amount to approximately
RMB657,987 per month (inclusive of maintenance fee) to be paid monthly.
The transaction amount incurred under the Lease Agreement during the
Reporting Period was RMB6.6 million.

Based on our independent assessment and commercial judgement, and
considering the overall commercial terms, the common industry practice
and long-term lease relationship between Zhaoke Guangzhou and Lee’s
Pharm Guangzhou, we believe it is cost efficient and beneficial to our
operations to continue to lease the premises from Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou.
For further details, see our announcements published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and our Company dated March 1, 2022.
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(1) HBECRORH

Continuing Connected Transactions

(1) Procurement of CRO Services

90

Lee’s Pharm Hefei is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lee’s
Pharm, our Substantial Shareholder. Under the Listing Rules, Lee’s
Pharm Hefei is regarded as our connected person. Pursuant to
the master CRO service agreement entered into between Zhaoke
Guangzhou and Lee’s Pharm Hefei on April 1, 2021 (the “Master
CRO Service Agreement”), our Group agreed to engage Lee’s
Pharm Hefei as a CRO service provider to provide relevant CRO
services for developing our CsA ophthalmic gel, ZKY001 and
levobetaxolol HCI. The Master CRO Service Agreement has a term
commencing from the date of the agreement, and continue to be in
force until the completion of the clinical trial projects contemplated
thereunder. Based on our independent assessment and commercial
judgement, and considering the overall commercial terms, the R&D
capabilities and dedication proposed by Lee’s Pharm Hefei and its
relevant industry knowledge and experience, we believe engaging
Lee’s Pharm Hefei as our CRO service provider to provide the
service contemplated under the Master CRO Service Agreement is
commercially beneficial to the business of our Group. For further
details on the procurement of CRO services, please refer to the
section headed “Connected Transactions - Non-Exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions - Procurement of CRO Services” of the
Prospectus.

Historical transaction amounts

The transaction amount incurred under the Master CRO Service
Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2022 was RMB4.9
million (for the year ended December 31, 2021: RMB50.3 million).

Caps on future transaction amounts

The proposed annual cap for the service fees under the Master
CRO Service Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2022 is
RMB31.0 million.

Termination of Continuing Connected Transactions

On January 26, 2022, the Group and Lee’s Pharm Hefei mutually
agreed to early terminate the Master CRO Service Agreement
with effect from the date of completion of Phase II clinical trial of
ZKY0O01 for the indication of CED. The reason for early termination
is because patient enrollment related to the clinical trial of CsA
ophthalmic gel and levobetaxolol HCI has been completed in 2021
and there would be further change over the design of ZKY001's
ongoing clinical trial with additional indications newly explored. The
Company decided to delegate the remaining clinical trial projects to
another independent third party service providers after considering
its suitability based on these new changes and requirement. Upon
such termination, all rights and obligations of the parties to the
Master CRO Service Agreement shall cease and no party shall have
any claim against each other in connection with the Master CRO
Service Agreement. For further details on the termination, please
refer to our announcements published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and our Company dated January 26, 2022.
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(2) Procurement of CRO Services for NVK002

Pursuant to the CRO service agreements (the "NVKO002 Service
Agreements”) entered into between Zhaoke Guangzhou and Lee’s
Pharm Hefei on April 8, 2022, our Group agreed to engage Lee’s
Pharm Hefei as a CRO service provider to provide relevant CRO
services for developing NVKO002 for myopia. Each of the NVK002
Service Agreements has a term commencing from April 8, 2022 to
December 31, 2024.

Based on our independent assessment and commercial judgement,
and considering the overall commercial terms, the R&D capabilities
and dedication proposed by Lee’s Pharm Hefei, its relevant industry
knowledge and experience and its familiarness with our Company’s
needs and requirements, we believe engaging Lee’s Pharm Hefei as
our CRO service provider to provide the services contemplated under
the NVK002 Service Agreements is commercially beneficial to the
business of our Group. For further details, see our announcements
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and our Company
dated April 8, 2022.

Historical transaction amounts

The transaction amount incurred under the NVK002 Service
Agreements during the Reporting Period was RMB10.2 million.

Caps on future transaction amounts

The proposed annual caps for each of the nine months ended
December 31, 2022 and the two years ending December 31, 2023
and 2024 is RMB18.7 million, RMB18.1 million and RMB18.1 million,
respectively.

Our Company’s auditors were engaged to report on our Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter of Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditors have issued an unqualified letter
containing their responsibilities and conclusions in respect of the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions contemplated
under the Master CRO Service Agreement and NVK0O02 Service
Agreements as disclosed by our Group in this report in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter
has been provided by our Company to the Stock Exchange.
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(3) Product Licensing

Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Lee’s Pharm, our Substantial Shareholder. Lee’s Pharm International
is our Substantial Shareholder. Under the Listing Rules, Lee’s
Pharm Guangzhou and Lee’s Pharm International are regarded as
our connected persons. Our Company and Zhaoke Guangzhou,
as licensors, entered into the license agreement with Lee’s
Pharm International and Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou (together, the
“Licensees”) on October 2, 2020 (the “License Agreement”),
pursuant to which we agreed to grant exclusive license rights
to the Licensees to promote and commercialize the adapalene/
clindamycin hydrochloride compound gel (the “Licensed Product”)
in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. In consideration, the
Licensees agreed to pay an upfront payment of US$10,000,000
within 30 days after the signing of the agreement and a milestone
payment of US$5,000,000 within 14 days after obtaining the
relevant regulatory approval for the new drug registration of the
Licensed Product in PRC, and to share with us the profit derived
from the sale of Licensed Product (the “Profit Sharing”). In
addition, pursuant to the License Agreement, we were engaged
by the Licensees to exclusively manufacture the Licensed Product,
and shall supply the Licensed Products to the Licensees in the PRC
(the “Licensed Product Supply”) at a determined supply price
per unit. The License Agreement has an initial term commencing
on the date of the agreement and continue to be in force and effect
until the date of the tenth anniversary of the initial sale of the
Licensed Product, and can be automatically extended for additional
consecutive renewal terms of five years each, unless terminated
earlier in accordance with the terms of the License Agreement.
The License Agreement was entered into by our Group and the
Retained Lee’s Pharm Group out of independent commercial
considerations since we expect to focus our resources on the R&D
of ophthalmic pharmaceutical products, while the Retained Lee’s
Pharm Group has a developed business in dermatology field. It is
natural and commercially beneficial for both groups to enter into the
License Agreement so that both groups will be able to stick to their
respective business plans and development paths. For further details
on the procurement of CRO services, please refer to “"Connected
Transactions — Non-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions —
Product Licensing” of the Prospectus.

Historical transaction amount

We have not received any payment under the License Agreement
for the year ended December 31, 2022 since the next payment
milestone under the License Agreement has yet been achieved as of
the end of the Reporting Period and there was no Licensed Products
supplied or net sales revenue incurred for the year ended December
31, 2022 under the License Agreement.
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Caps on future transaction amounts

We have set the annual caps for the Licensed Product Supply and
the Profit Sharing as formulas (the “Formulas”) below:

(i)  Licensed Product Supply

The payment to be received by us from the Retained Lee’s
Pharm Group for supplying the Licensed Products will be
determined in accordance with the following formula:

Amount receivable by us under Licensed Product Supply =
Unit supply price! amount of Licensed Product supplied

(ii)  Profit Sharing

The payment receivable by us from the Retained Lee’s Pharm
Group for Profit Sharing pursuant to the License Agreement
will be determined in accordance with the following formula:

Amount of profit receivable by us under Profit Sharing? = (net
sales revenue® * 55%) - amount receivable by the Group
under Licensed Product Supply (net of tax)

There was no Licensed Products supplied or net sales revenue incurred
for the year ended December 31, 2022 under the License Agreement.
Therefore, the auditor of the Company has not reported on the above
continuing connected transactions contemplated under the License
Agreement pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Notes:

1 The unit supply price is determined by taking into consideration the cost
expected to be incurred by us for the manufacturing of Licensed Products and
a gross profit margin of approximately 60% for such manufacturing.

2 Net sales revenue shall be net of value-added taxes and sales commissions
paid to distributors.

3 If the formula produces negative results, we are not obligated to pay any

amount to the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Directors, including the
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that: (i) the continuing
connected transactions as set out above have been and will be entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, on normal
commercial terms or terms better to us, that are fair and reasonable
and in the interest of us and our Shareholders as a whole; and (ii) the
proposed annual caps and the alternative cap (as applicable) for the non-
exempt continuing connected transactions described in this section are fair
and reasonable and in the interest of our Company and the Shareholders as
a whole.
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
or chief executive of our Company in any of the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of our Company or its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which have been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of SFO
(including any interest or short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company

EENRETHRAEBREAQTHHE
MEEOEE RS - HERA AR
EREENERRAR

M2022%12A31H » ARAESERKFITHRAERSK
RAREREEE (E& BRSNS RPIZEXVED) E
D - RO RERFETHEEYCREE SRS
WGEPIEXVERE 7 K80 BB A& AN 1 ] Ko B 52 A ey A e e
#E(BREESERIEES RAEGPIERBESORE FR
REBNEAEESAR)  AECHERREESMBE
BPIEIS2A R RAGFENES MR AR - 3
REBFETRIE MG AR R R TS SOARIAT

RAE L ARG HIEBR G HIFE

Approximate

Number percentage in

Name of Director Nature of interest of Shares shareholding™
EEpE ERE RHHE HREBNB DD
Dr. Li Xiaoyi® 3 Beneficial owner 14,702,800" 2.70%
FNBETORG BERMAA

Interest in controlled corporation 2,187,600V 0.40%

R EE R

Interest of spouse 166,666\ 0.03%

BoiBiEs
Mr. Dai Xiangrong® Beneficial owner 1,461,200 0.27%
BMRLE® BERMAA
Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee® Beneficial owner 223,557 0.04%
Sy qa ) EREBA
Ms. Tiantian Zhang® Beneficial owner 200,000® 0.04%
SREHEH 22 © E=AA
Mr. Wong Hin Wing® Beneficial owner 200,000 0.04%
EHRRR S E® BERMAA
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam® Beneficial owner 200,000® 0.04%
B R © EREBA
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang® Beneficial owner 200,000® 0.04%
2l@ERAE® FnAA

Remark: The letter "L"” denotes long position in such securities.

Notes:

(1) Referring to the (i) 14,022,800 Shares underlying the options granted to Dr.
Li Xiaoyi under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme; and (ii) 680,000 Shares

underlying the options granted to Dr. Li Xiaoyi under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme on December 15, 2022.
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(2) Dr. Li Xiaoyi holds 65% of the equity interest of Lee’s Healthcare Industry
Investments Limited, which in turn is the general partner of Lee’s Healthcare
Industry Fund L.P. For the purpose of the SFO, Dr. Li is deemed to have an
interest in the 2,187,600 Shares held by Lee’s Healthcare Industry Fund L.P..

(3) Referring to the 166,666 Shares held by Dr. Li Xiaoyi’s spouse.

(4) Referring to the (i) 1,261,200 Shares underlying the options granted to Mr. Dai
Xiangrong under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme; and (ii) 200,000 Shares
underlying the options granted to Mr. Dai Xiangrong under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme on December 15, 2022.

(5) Referring to the (i) 23,557 Shares subscribed trough preferential offering (as
defined in the Prospectus); and (ii) 200,000 Shares underlying the options
granted to Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme on December 15, 2022.

(6) Referring to the respective 200,000 Share underlying the options granted to Ms.
Zhang Tiantian, Mr. Wong Hin Wing, Prof. Lo Yuk Lam and Mr. Liew Fui Kiang
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on December 15, 2022.

(7) Calculated based on the number of the total issued share capital of our
Company as of December 31, 2022, being 543,843,992.

Save as disclosed above, as of the Latest Practicable Date, to the best
knowledge of the Directors or chief executive of the Company, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company had interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (with the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

FERRNRD R AABR G
BENKA

M2022F12A318  RERHA - LFAL(EKRF]
EEgHEETTRABRINRARQ RE G SRR D+
BB AR AR E R A IRIEES KA EEHIEXVERE
2R3 EHREAMAR R R RFTHE BN RRIAR
RO BN BIBEESFRAE KA EI36KEARREATE
mECRERSAE

As of December 31, 2022, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had
or were deemed or taken to have interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Shares or underlying RE R AR 7 G RR (7 I B

Shares of the Company

Total number Approximate

96

of Shares/ percentage in
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest underlying Shares shareholding™
RRERB RN B3 AEEARR 7 AR HRESNB LD
Lee’s Pharm® Interest in controlled corporation 140,379,600V 25.81%
FCARLERD R LB
Lee’s Pharm International® Beneficial owner 138,192,000 25.41%
TR ARLER RO EmfEAA
GIC Private Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 37,803,200M 6.95%
GIC Private Limited® R LB
Investment manager 32,857,500 6.04%
REKE
GIC (Ventures) Pte. Ltd.® Interest in controlled corporation 37,803,200 6.95%
GIC (Ventures) Pte. Ltd.@ EiE AR
Apstar Investment Pte Ltd® Interest in controlled corporation 37,803,200W 6.95%
Apstar Investment Pte Ltd® R AR
Coyote Investment Pte Ltd® Beneficial owner 37,803,200 6.95%
Coyote Investment Pte Ltd® BEmfEEA
Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola® Interest in controlled corporation 40,341,100 7.42%
BDREZ+® EiE AR
VMS Holdings Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 35,747,100 6.57%
VMS Holdings Limited® R AR
Citigroup Inc. Interest in controlled corporation 250,044 0.05%
Citigroup Inc. R LB
250,000 0.05%
Approved lending agent 32,204,700 5.92%
AL RIEA
Hillhouse Capital Management, Investment manager 30,627,200V 5.63%
Ltd.®
Hillhouse Capital Management, BEKIE
Ltd.®
Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P.® Interest in controlled corporation 30,627,200M 5.63%
Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P.®»  S¥xBEER
COFL Holdings Limited® Beneficial owner 30,627,200 5.63%

COFL Holdings Limited®

BEmfEAA

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A
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Total number Approximate

of Shares/ percentage in

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest underlying Shares shareholding™
BRREHE EEME i1, TERARR (AR B HRESNBD LD
TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd.® Beneficial owner 30,627,200 5.63%
TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd.® EREAA
Pandanus Associates Inc.(® Interest in controlled corporation 27,530,000 5.06%
Pandanus Associates Inc.(® R LB
Pandanus Partners L.P.® Interest in controlled corporation 27,530,000 5.06%
Pandanus Partners L.P.® EiEEE S
FIL Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 17,5000 0.00%*
FIL Limited® R EERER
FLI Investment Services (UK) Beneficial owner 27,512,500 5.06%

Limited®
FLI Investment Services (UK) BEmEaA

Limited®
FIDELITY CHINA SPECIAL Beneficial owner 27,512,500 5.06%

SITUATIONS PLC®

FIDELITY CHINA SPECIAL

Y

EmEAA

SITUATIONS PLC®

Remark: The Letter “L” denotes long position in such securities and “S” denotes
short position in such securities. * refers the percentage less than
0.01%.

Notes:

(1) Lee’s Pharm International is wholly owned by Lee’s Pharm. Therefore, Lee’s

(2)

(3)

Pharm is deemed to be interested in the 138,192,000 Shares held by Lee’s
Pharm International under the SFO. Approximately 43.16% of the partnership
interest in Lee’s Pharm Healthcare Fund L.P. is held by Lee’s Pharm. Therefore,
Lee’s Pharm is deemed to be interested in the 2,187,600 Shares held by Lee’s
Pharm Healthcare Fund L.P. under the SFO.

Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Apstar Investment
Pte Ltd., which is in turn a wholly owned subsidiary of GIC (Ventures) Pte.
Ltd. Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. is managed by GIC Special Investments Pte.
Ltd., which is wholly owned by GIC Private Limited. Therefore, each of Apstar
Investment Pte Ltd., GIC (Ventures) Pte. Ltd., GIC Special Investments Pte.
Ltd. and GIC Private Limited is deemed to be interested in the 37,803,200
Shares held by Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. under the SFO.

Each of Smart Rocket Limited, VMS Zhaoke Investment Fund SP and Bio
Success Investment Limited holds 26,742,400, 4,629,500 and 4,375,200
Shares, respectively. Smart Rocket Limited, VMS Zhaoke Investment Fund
SP and Bio Success Investments Limited are all indirect subsidiaries of VMS
Holdings Limited, the ultimated beneficial owner of which is by Ms. Mak Siu
Hang Viola ( % 4 ). Therefore, each of Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola and VMS
Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the 26,742,400 Shares held by
Smart Rocket Limited, the 4,629,500 Shares held by VMS Zhaoke Investment
Fund SP and the 4,375,200 Shares held by Bio Success Investment Limited
under the SFO. VMS Investment Group Limited is a company in turn controlled
by Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola. Therefore, Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola is also deemed
to be interested in the 4,594,000 Shares held by VMS Investment Group
Limited under the SFO.

()

(3)

FRILIEREZESZNER - Ml SIHEHEMESNXA
*ER A AR0.01% ©

FRAEMEFOAFTRAEBREERS - ALt - REE
FH KHIE G - 2R BRI AR A0 2 K B B Y 4%
A #138,192,000 % i% 15 # A5 # 25 ° Lee’s Pharm
Healthcare Fund L.P.#143.16% M & B HE K
REFFH - Bt - RIEFHKBAEKRD - TRAER
118 B A Lee’s Pharm Healthcare Fund L.P.354AH)
2,187,6000% /% 7 #E G 1z ©

Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd.A&Apstar Investment
Pte Ltd. 8 & & [ & 2 7] - i Apstar Investment
Pte Ltd. & GIC (Ventures) Pte. Ltd. ¥ & & ii & 2
7]  Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. B3 GIC Special
Investments Pte. Ltd. & 2 i GIC Special
Investments Pte. Ltd.FiGIC Private Limited % & #
A o Et - BIRFEH L EEEF] - Apstar Investment
Pte Ltd. - GIC (Ventures) Pte. Ltd. - GIC Special
Investments Pte. Ltd. 2 GIC Private Limited %
B % 18 & 7 Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. # A& &)
37,803,200 n A = ©

Smart Rocket Limited - VMS Zhaoke Investment
Fund SPXBio Success Investment Limited& B %
B4 %5 26,742,400 % - 4,629,500 f% & 4,375,200
& §& {5 - Smart Rocket Limited * VMS Zhaoke
Investment Fund SP [ Bio Success Investments
Limited #J /& VMS Holdings Limited &) & £ i & 2
a) > MVMS Holdings Limited®) &R E%HE A ABZE
Dt o B RIBFEFLBEGRD - EORLER
VMS Holdings Limited & B # 1% 4 7 Smart Rocket
Limited ¥ A& # 26,742,400 % f% 1 + VMS Zhaoke
Investment Fund SP# 7% #)4,629,500 3% % 15 & Bio
Success Investment Limited 5 & # 4,375,200 %
[ {7 B 25 © VMS Investment Group Limited
TERBLBZTEEIRAT - Bt - BIBEESFRPEK
Bl » 251 42+ IR 48 A VMS Investment Group
Limited#% 4 #94,594,0000% i {5  #E A 4% ©
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(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

COFL Holdings Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Hillhouse Venture Fund
V, L.P. Hillhouse Capital Management, Ltd. acts as the sole management
company of Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P. Therefore, each Hillhouse Capital
Management, Ltd. and Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P. is deemed to be
interested in the 30,627,200 Shares held by COFL Holdings Limited under the
SFO.

Each of TPG Asia VII Finance, Limited Partnership (as sole ordinary shareholder
of TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd.), TPG Asia GenPar VII, L.P. (as a general partner
of TPG Asia VII Finance, Limited Partnership), TPG Asia GenPar VII Advisors,
Inc. (as a general partner of TPG Asia GenPar VII, L.P.), TPG Holdings III,
L.P. (as the sole ordinary shareholder of TPG Asia GenPar VII Advisors, Inc.),
TPG Holdings III-A, L.P. (as a general partner of TPG Holdings III, L.P.), TPG
Holdings III-A, Inc. (as a general partner of TPG Holdings III-A, L.P.), TPG
Group Holdings (SBS), L.P. (as the sole ordinary shareholder of TPG Holdings
III-A, Inc.), TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, LLC (as a general partner
of TPG Group Holdings (SBS), L.P.) and TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors,
Inc. (as the managing member of TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, LLC) is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd. under
the SFO. TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, Inc. is controlled by Mr. David
Bonderman and Mr. James G. Coulter, who disclaim beneficial ownership of the
Shares held by TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd. except to the extent of their pecuniary
interest therein.

To the best knowledge of our Company, each of FIDELITY CHINA SPECIAL
SITUATIONS PLC, FLI Investment Services (UK) Limited, FIL Limited and
Pandanus Partners L.P. is ultimately controlled by Pandanus Associates Inc.
through multiple intermediary shareholding entities.

Calculated based on the number of the total issued share capital of our
Company as of December 31, 2022, being 543,843,992.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other
relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the
Company, other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company,
as of the Latest Practicable Date, which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.
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EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN

During the year ended December 31, 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, we have adopted two share option schemes which was required to
be disclosed as below under the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted pursuant to the written resolutions of all Shareholders of the
Company dated November 17, 2020.

Purpose

The purpose of Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to reward, retain and
motivate the eligible persons for their contribution to our Group.

Participants

The eligible persons under Per-IPO Share Option include our Group’s
employees, Directors, consultants and any other person the Board may in
its absolute discretion think fit.

Maximum number of Shares available for issue

The maximum number of Shares available for issue upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is
37,043,508 Shares, representing approximately 6.81% of the total
issued share capital of our Company as of December 31, 2022, being
543,843,992 Shares.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme contains no provisions on the maximum
entitlement of each participant.

Option period

An option may be exercised in accordance with the rules under Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme at any time during the option period as specified by
the Board in relation to each such option in its terms of grant. The Board
may provide restrictions on how and when an option during the period for
which an option must be held or a performance target, if any, which must
be achieved before an option can be exercised.

Vesting period

All of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are
exercisable upon vesting until the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.
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Acceptance of offers of options

Subject to the rules under Pre-IPO Option Scheme and such other
conditions as the Board may in its absolute and sole discretion sees fit,
offers of options shall be made by us to the eligible person within the
scheme period and shall be open for acceptance in writing and such notice
of acceptance must be duly received by the secretary of our Company on
or before 5:00 p.m. on the expiry date for acceptance of the offer specified
in the offer provided that an offer shall not be open for acceptance after
the expiry of 14 days from the date upon which the offer is made. Upon
acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to our Company as
consideration for the grant, and on the date of grant option certificate(s)
under the common seal of our Company shall be issued. Offers of options
not accepted within the option period shall lapse.

Basis of determining the consideration

The exercise price is determined by the Board on a fair and reasonable
basis with reference to the performance of our Company and the past or
potential contribution of the eligible persons to the business and operation
of our Company, and notified to each grantee but in any event will be no
less than the nominal value of the shares (if any) or (where applicable)
such price as from time to time adjusted pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme.

Remaining life

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme became valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing from November 17, 2020 to November 17, 2030.
The remaining life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is over seven
years. No additional options shall be granted thereunder after the Listing
Date, but in all other respects the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the exercise of any options
granted.

Before Listing, our Company had conditionally granted 45,732,000
options to 116 grantees under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. No
further option has been granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
subsequent to the Listing Date. The exercise price of all the options
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is between US$0.09
to US$1.14 per Share. The principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is set out in “Appendix IV - Statutory and General Information
- D. Share Option Schemes - 1. Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” of the
Prospectus.
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The following table discloses movements in the outstanding options  FXREBENREHZ2022412A318 FFEE @ REELAQ
granted to all grantees under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the  BA% & B S A A+ &3 T A A AR A B (8 AR 17160 B3 i

year ended December 31, 2022. &S -
Number
Number Number Number of options
of options of Shares of options  cancelled/ Number
granted  underlying exercised lapsed of Shares
between options between between  underlying Weighted
January 1,  outstanding January 1, January1, outstanding average
Name of 2022 to as of 2022 to 2022to  options as of closing
category Exercise Vesting December 31, January 1, December 31, December 31, December 31, price per
of grantee Date of grant Option period price period 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 Share?

20225 #2022%
R2022% 20225 1R1RE 1R1RZ R2022%
1A18% 1R1R 20225 20225 12316
022%  HEfTRERE 126318 12/31R%H WA BRERH
12A31R%4 SROER BECRN  EE/ZMN BREVRN gy

REARERER RLRH BRERR 8 GBS RuNBREHE Rit#A BiEHE BREHE  EBROEA G-
US$ per share
Bz
Directors
gz
Li Xiaoyi November 17, 2020 10 years 0.09 Note 1 - 3,152,800 - - 3,152,800 -
)t 20205117178 commencing on fiik1
December 9, 2020 the adoption date ~ 1.14 Note 1 - 10,870,000 10,870,000 -
2020512A9A BRMBHE 105 [iEal
Dai Xiangrong November 17, 2020 10 years 0.09 Note 1 - 1,261,200 - - 1,261,200 -
commencing on
the adoption date
Bl 2020511A178 ERAAEE 105 il
Other 107 Between November 17, 10 years Between 0.09  Note 1 o 23,656,572 (1,897,064) = 21,759,508 249
grantees 2020 to March 2, 2021 commencing on to1.14
in aggregate the adoption date
Rf11078&RA 202051181762 ERAAME105 0.09%1.14 i3l
(&) 202153A2A
= 38,940,572 (1,897,064) = 37,043,508 o
Notes: BSE -

(1)  20% of the options shall vest upon the completion of the Global Offering, 20% (1) 20%FERIEERNEIRBEETHIER © LARE20%HEH
of the options shall vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant, 20% of BESHNELBESHNEE - £2E  F=EAKRFEME
the options shall vest on the second anniversary of the date of grant, 20% of BFEARE -
the options shall vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant, and the
remaining 20% of the options shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the date
of grant.

(2)  Representing the weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately (2)  IEEZEREEITE B ERTA MRS I F R mE -
before the dates on which the options were exercised.
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Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The purpose of the Post-IPO Option Scheme is to provide incentive or
reward to “Eligible Persons” (as defined below) for their contribution
to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of our Group and to
incentivize them to remain within our Group, as well as for other purposes
as the Board may approve from time to time.

Participants

Subject to the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Board
may, at its discretion, specify any conditions which must be satisfied
before the option(s) under the Post-IPO Option Scheme may be exercised.

Eligible persons (“Eligible Persons”) include:

. any employee (whether full-time or part-time) of our Company
or any of its subsidiaries who has contributed to our innovative
projects, including but not limited to innovation committee member,
project leader, engineer and technician;

° before January 1, 2023, any staff, advisor (professional or
otherwise), consultant, agent or business partner that we deem
important to provide support to our Group; starting from January
1, 2023, any person who, in the sole opinion of the Board, provides
services to any member of our Group on a continuing or recurring
basis in its ordinary and usual course of business which are in the
interests of the long term growth of our Group, excluding placing
agents, financial advisors and professional service providers who are
required to perform their services with impartiality and objectivity;

. any Director; and

° before January 1, 2023, any Shareholder or any member of our
Group or any holder of any securities issued by any member of our
Group.

Maximum number of Shares available for issue

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme,
all schemes existing at such time and any new share option scheme of
our Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as of the Listing Date, being 53,515,550 Shares,
representing approximately 9.84% of the total issued share capital of our
Company as at December 31, 2022.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

No option shall be granted to any Eligible Person if, at the relevant time of
grant, the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options and options under any other share option schemes of our
Company to the relevant Eligible Person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant would exceed 1% of the total number of
Shares in issue at such time, within any 12-month period unless certain
conditions are satisfied.

Option period

The period during which the option may be exercised is determined by the
Board at its discretion but shall expire in any event not later than the last
day of the 10-year period after the date of grant of the option.

Vesting period

The Board may specify any conditions which must be satisfied before the
option may be exercised, including without limitation, the purchase price,
performance targets (if any) and minimum periods for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised and any other terms in relation to
the exercise of the option, including without limitation such percentages
of the options that can be exercised during a certain period of time, as the
Board may determine from time to time.

Acceptance of offers of options

The Board shall specify a date by which the grantee must accept the offer
of option or be deemed to have declined it, being a date no later than 14
days after (i) the date on which the option is offered (the “Offer Date”),
or (ii) the date on which the conditions for the offer are satisfied, if any,
whichever is earlier.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The price at which each Share subject to an option may be subscribed
for shall be a price solely determined by the Board and shall be at least
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the Offer Date, which must be a
Business Day; (ii) the average of the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five Business Days
immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.
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Remaining life

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme became valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on April 1, 2021. The remaining life of the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is approximately seven years.

During the Reporting Period, a total of 7,820,000 options were granted
and/or conditionally granted (as the case may be) by our Company on
December 15, 2022, among which, (i) 5,940,000 options were granted
to 110 grantees who are employees of our Group and are not connected
persons of our Company; and (ii) 1,880,000 options were granted and/
or conditionally granted (as the case may be) to seven grantees who
are either the Directors and/or chief executive of our Company. As of
December 31, 2022, the total number of Shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme was 7,820,000 (representing approximately
1.44% of our Company’s Shares in issue as at the same period). The
principal terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and details of grant
of options are set out in “Appendix IV - Statutory and General Information
— D. Share Option Schemes — 2. Post-IPO Share Option Scheme” of the
Prospectus and the announcement of our Company dated December 15,
2022.
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The following table discloses movements in the outstanding options
granted to all grantees under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during

Reporting Period.
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TREBERBEHA - RIEEF
BTHREAEANRARITERBRENES) :

Number of Shares under the outstanding options

N

e
BB E & B AT 2

HATRERESRHRAHE
Asa
Granted percent of Weighted
Exercise during  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed Shares in average
price As of the duringthe duringthe  during the Asof issue as of Closing closing
Category and Option per Vesting January  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting  December  December  priceper  price per
name of grantee  Date of grant period share Period 1,2022 Period Period Period Period 31,2022 31, 2022 Share® Share®
#2022%
12A318¢
#2022% #2022 BEfRR SRRE  SRRONE
RBARAIRSES RHAH BRESE SRORE BRH 1A18 RESHARY RESHATE REEHASE REEEAAN 124318 BAt WmEY  THEHES
(HK$) (HKS)
() ()
Directors
j £
Dr. Li Xiaoyi December 15, 2022 Note 1 3.26 Note2 - 200,000 - - - 200,000 0.04% 3.35 -
3Rt 2022512A158  HiEL Hir2
December 15, 2022 Note 1 3.26 Note3 - 480,000 = = = 480,000 0.09% 335 =
25128158 K Hit3
Mr. Dai Xiangrong ~ December 15, 2022 Note 1 3.26 Note2 = 200,000 = = = 200,000 0.04% 335 =
HRAtE 2022512A158 WL M2
Ms. Leelalertsuphakun December 15, 2022 Note 1 3.26 Note 2 = 200,000 o = = 200,000 0.04% 3.35 =
Wanee
ZERLT 022512A158 L M2
Ms. Tiantian Zhang ~ December 15, 2022 Note 1 3.26 Note2 - 200,000 - - - 200,000 0.04% 3.35 -
Rifint 022512A158 it g7
Mr. Wong Hin Wing ~ December 15, 2022 Note 1 326 Note?2 = 200,000 = = = 200,000 0.04% 335 =
BERRE 22512A158 L Hit2
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam December 15,2022 Note 1 3.26 Note2 - 200,000 - - - 200,000 0.04% 3.35 -
ESUAR 2022512A158  FiEL Hir2
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang ~ December 15, 2022 Note 1 3.26 Note2 - 200,000 - 200,000 0.04% 335 -
Bpre 25128158 K Hit2
Employees
&
110 employees in December 15, 2022 Note 1 3.26 Note3/ - 5,940,000 - - - 5,940,000 1.09% 3.35 -
aggregate Note 4
1104 EE (53 2022F12R158  HiEL his3/
i)
Total - 7,820,000 - - - 7,820,000 1.44%
&t
Notes: B &
(1) 10 years commencing on their respective date of grant. (1) HEZENRE AR +F-

(2)  50% of the options shall vest on the date of grant; and 50% of the options (2)
shall vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant.

50%BEERN KT B HISRE  LAKRS0%EAER B X H

REEEEBAFARE -
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(3) 10% of the options shall vest on each of the first, second, third and fourth
anniversaries of the date of grant, respectively; 20% of the options shall
vest upon achieving an R&D milestone for CsA ophthalmic gel milestones
and certain financial performance targets of our Group; 20% of the options
shall vest upon achieving an R&D milestone for NVK002 and certain financial
performance targets of our Group; and 10% of the options shall respectively
vest at the date when our market capitalization reaching certain targets,
respectively.

(4) The options granted will vest upon the achievement of various vesting
conditions as specified in the offer letter to each grantee, including certain
anniversaries of the date of grant, R&D milestones for our Group’s key products
as well as certain financial performance and market capitalization targets of
our Group.

(5) Representing the closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on
which the options were granted.

(6) Representing the weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the dates on which the options were exercised.

Save for the foregoing, we did not grant any options to any Eligible
Persons for the year ended December 31, 2022 according to Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme.

As of December 31, 2022, the number of options available for future grant
under the mandate of Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was 45,695,550.
The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options granted
under all schemes during the Reporting Period was 7,820,000, and the
weighted average number of Shares in issue during the Reporting Period
was 542,172,689. As such, the ratio calculated based on the number of
Shares that may be granted divided by the weighted average number of
Shares in issue is equal to approximately 1.44%.

Details of the fair value of the options granted by our Company during the
Reporting Period, and the accounting policy adopted for the options are
set out in Note 22 to the Financial Statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme as set out in this annual report, no equity-linked agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require
the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares were entered into by the Group, or existed from
the Listing Date till and up to December 31, 2022.

LAND AND PROPERTIES

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Company did not own any
properties.
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MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration
during the year ended December 31, 2022. The Directors are also not
aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending or threatened
against the Group during the year ended December 31, 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Reporting
Period.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the year
ended December 31, 2022 and details of the Shares issued during the
year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in Note 23(b) to the Financial
Statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the year ended December
31, 2022.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had a secured bank loan of RMB94.5
million which was repayable within one year or on demand, and details of
the bank loan is set out in Note 19 to the Financial Statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has not issued any
convertible bonds.
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LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS BERCERRREABITISE
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE EENRENER =
OF THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the RWREHAMEEZHEERAI/THE  ANRQ G ELK
Company did not have a Controlling Shareholder. ARER o

DIVIDENDS % B

The Board does not recommend any payment of a final dividend for the EE&TEZEREHE2022612H31 8 (FFEEIRM(EM
year ended December 31, 2022. REAARE. ©

PERMITTED INDEMNITY B RERX

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws  BEASERMEINEEREZEENRRT  SL5%
and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless = FLH F ek 1 5 & TR AR NIT S sk 7h 1t AT BE R
out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs, HEEZH—FR kA S - 1Bk BERER
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may B - EEEUUARRQREE&FBEEHAREERRE
incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty in their offices. RFZEE -

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify ARG ELHEENTTRE  URARAEZREHK
the Directors and senior management of the Company for their liabilities EEERGEEHMEENTTRHSIELRE - R
arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage will be reviewed REE&EEETFRE -

on an annual basis.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES A DIk A

The Company may pay dividends out of the share premium account, ZAARAEGEER  RBAEFREMEMEES IR
retained earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately M8 @ AR AR BHEZ SR ERMNE - AAFEHRE
following the payment of such dividends, the Company will be in a position ﬁEAEI BEBREEI PN ENFRER -

to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of

business.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company did not have any distributable 72022412 A318 « ZAQ A EE(] /] DR
reserves.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company A&£ERARGBEREZ20229F12A318IEFER
during the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in the consolidated  EFFIEHAF124BNGAREEFEK -
statement of changes in equity on page 124.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS ZEBX
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group did not make any  RE[ZE2022412A31HILFE « AEE I & (EH T
charitable donations. HEBN -
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 12 to the Financial
Statements.

Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering

The Company’s Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on April 29,
2021 with a total of 123,567,500 offer Shares issued. The net proceeds
from the Global Offering amounted to approximately HK$1,932.3 million,
after deducting the underwriting fees, commissions and related Listing
expenses. As of December 31, 2022, such net proceeds were utilized as
follows:

Report of Directors
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W% - BERRE

REEME - BE LRERIRE RN E
TEIRRMIGEL2 ©

EAE N

ERREEHIBEZ

AATDR202144 B29 BT £ - A H3T
123,567,500/ B &85 - 2B EMNMERIEFED
£1,932.3888x EREHKRBHEER - Ao kB
B EMRIS - W2022F 128318 @ ZEMBRIEEH
EBAMT :

Amount of Utilized net  Unutilized net Expected
net proceeds Percentage proceeds as of proceeds as of time frame
for planned of total net December 31, December 31, for unutilized
Use of proceeds from Listing applications proceeds 2022 2022 amount
R2022%F 72022F
EFERE 12A31H 12A31H8 F#HHA
et B RH REAY 28A RBA ADARED
LHRBRERR FrSFOR R Rl F8RIEFHE FERURFE B
(HK$ million) (%) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(B&%T) (%) (B&#T) (B&%T)
For the clinical development and 618.34 32.00% 233.57 384.77
commercialization of our two Core
Products
RIMMERE R ERREI B R EEL
1. Allocated to CsA Ophthalmic Gel 438.64 22.70% 161.17 277.47 By the end of
2025
HETRBRARER 20255 K3k 2 il
2. Allocated to ZKY001 179.70 9.30% 72.40 107.30 By the end of
2025
2B TFZKY001 20255 Kk, Al
The continuing R&D activities as well as 888.86 46.00% 305.02 583.84
commercialization of the other drug
candidates in our pipeline
RMNERPEBEEENNSERREBREEL
1. The continuing R&D activities of other 579.69 30.00% 158.35 421.34 By the end of
key drug candidates 2025
HithF ERBLEY N ERLED 2025 Kk Al
2. The continuing R&D activities of other 57.97 3.00% 57.97 - -
innovative and generic drug candidates
Eofth BT R BURIE Y RSB EOE D)
3. The milestone payments of our other in- 96.62 5.00% 56.97 39.65 By the end of
licensed drug candidate 2025
HAPTE A SR E G M) BRI 3K 20255 K 3k2 Al
4. The further expansion of our sales and 154.58 8.00% 31.73 122.85 By the end of
marketing team in anticipation of new 2025
product launches in the coming year
FERTRF LR ER - BfmE—PEREER 2025F &k, Z Al
Carrying out the production line 135.27 7.00% 135.27 - -

expansion of our advanced Nansha
manufacturing facility in anticipation
of our product launches in the coming
years
ABRMUREINEEEERBETEERER -
UBERRFENERLT
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Amount of Utilized net  Unutilized net Expected
net proceeds Percentage proceeds as of proceeds as of time frame
for planned of total net December 31, December 31, for unutilized
Use of proceeds from Listing applications proceeds 2022 2022 amount
"2022F "02022F
1EFTE R 12A31A 12A318 HEH#HA
e EIREN RRAH 28A RBA ADAREN
LHERIERRE e RERE Bk Fr8RERE FERERE K
(HK$ million) (%) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(B&AT) (%) (B8ETL) (B&AT)
Our business development activities and 96.62 5.00% 96.62 > =
the expansion of drug pipelines
ERBRIHRERERNER =
Working capital and other general 193.23 10.00% 103.78 89.45 By the end of
corporate purposes 2023
EELSSRHM-—REERE 20234 K5k 2 A
1,932.32 874.26 1,058.06

As at December 31, 2022, all the unused net proceeds were held by 20229128318 © FiIAASAMEIIEEEEHA
the Company in short-term deposits with licensed banks or authorized AFMNESHGERARNGFERESRPEFEIETHRR
financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC. BEIEE o

The expected timeline for utilizing the net proceeds from the Global  EEZEREEMEHIEFENTEPRFME HBEAQF]
Offering is based on the best estimation of future market conditions made % RRT RIELMSKEMETHIET @ ATRE@RBRMEHREE
by the Company and subject to changes in accordance with our actual  F&EANIEHER - BERK @ FTSIEFBEEILA
business operation. Going forward, the net proceeds will be applied in  ER[KRKEI R SHERG | — &R R -
the manner as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of AR ERERFEENMESABFALTRARITEE
Proceeds” of the Prospectus and there is no change in the intended use of £/

net proceeds as previously disclosed in the Prospectus.

SUBSIDIARIES B S X F]

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 14 to the ARFNBRARNFIESHNRTHERENWE14 -
Financial Statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD HREREEBIE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no material subsequent  BARERFTHEESIN - R2022F12A31HENEES
events undertaken by the Group after December 31, 2022 and up to the  EERA{THEIE - ANEEIWEETEREESEIE o
Latest Practicable Date.

AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF RRAFAKERGERERGBR
MEMBERS BRFE

The AGM is scheduled to be held on May 25, 2023. A notice convening the  BEREAFEASEZTH 2023457250877 - ZRKEA
AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders in the manner FAEMBEEREERRIZ EHHAREENFRBEE
required by the Listing Rules in due course. W TR -

The register of members of the Company will be closed from May 22, 2023 AR E#R202345822H%F 2023458258 (23EE
to May 25, 2023, both days inclusive, in order to determine the identity EMRB)EEHERNBEFELTFE UETEELE
of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend the AGM, during which BERERBFEAENBRENEH @ HEE TS IR ERKRN
period no share transfers will be registered. To be eligible to attend the BFEZFE -  ATAERIERRBEFAE  FEE
AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant HEZHBFPXRZERBRBAKEZMNAEN202345A198
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s  FHEE=+DZ A ERXARARNEBRMNZLDE
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor &#FRELEELAR AU AFBETEFKE
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183  FE1835F&aMAN171£1712-17164) © UHEERLF
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on May & -

19, 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 55 to 80
of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available and within the knowledge
of the Directors, the Company maintained the prescribed public float as
required under the Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the relevant laws of the Cayman Islands where the
Company is incorporated which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

AUDITORS

The Company has no change in auditors during the Reporting Period.
The Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 have
been prepared by KPMG, the auditor of the Company, who will retire
at the conclusion of the AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of by KPMG as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under
Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this report of
Directors form part of this annual report.

By Order of the Board
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited
Dr. Li Xiaoyi
Chairman of the Board and executive Director

Hong Kong, March 27, 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% B A R

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhaoke
Ophthalmology Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 121 to 221, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December
31, 2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole
and in forming our opinion thereon and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Assessment of impairment of in-licensed rights in intangible assets

Refer to notes 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting

policies in notes 2(f) and 2(h)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed
in our audit

THEATREH S/ E R A RE

BN Iz e R

BLBFA A BHAN I RIZURME2(0) R2(h)(i)FHIZ 5

B

BRESER

RAEWETMAREZSE

As at December 31, 2022, the
Group's in-licensed rights in intangible
assets, which were not ready for use,
amounted to RMB277.1 million.

These intangible assets are subject to
impairment assessment annually even
if there is no indicator of impairment.
The impairment assessment is
performed at the product level by
comparing its carrying value with
its recoverable amounts, which is
the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use based on
discounted cash flow forecasts.

We identified the assessment of
impairment of in-licensed rights
in intangible assets as a key audit
matter because of the significance of
the carrying value of such assets to
the consolidated financial statements
and because the preparation of
discounted cash flow forecasts for the
purpose of impairment assessments
involves estimating future revenue,
future operating cost, growth rates
for income and expenses and
discount rates, which are subject to
a significant degree of judgement
and could be subject to management
bias.

Our audit procedures to assess impairment of
in-licensed rights in intangible assets included
the following:

o understanding and evaluating the
design and implementation of key
internal controls over the impairment
assessment;

0 with the assistance of our internal
valuation specialists, assessing the
methodology adopted by management
in its preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

0 evaluating the key assumptions
adopted in the preparation of the
discounted cash flow forecasts,
including future revenue, future
operating cost and growth rates for
income and expenses with reference
to our understanding of the business,
historical trends and available industry
information and market data;

. with the assistance of our internal
valuation specialists, assessing the
discount rates used in the discounted
cash flow forecasts by benchmarking
against other companies in the same
industry;
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Assessment of impairment of in-licensed rights in intangible assets AR B ER TR RE

Refer to notes 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting — #2458 EHZN3 R 13U RITE2(F) R 2(h)(i)F 4127

policies in notes 2(f) and 2(h)(ii). B o

How the matter was addressed

The Key Audit Matter in our audit BRETEE RENESMAREEZZE
comparing the key assumptions . HERBEAFRAEME
included in the discounted cash flows BESREBATEEM
forecasts prepared by management in BRBREARFENEE
the prior year with the current year's HEITHE - DL EERE
performance to assess the accuracy RARBER: NEEENR
of the prior year's forecast, making R FTa R (R EAE
enquiries of management as to the HRE - ARELETE
reasons for any significant variations BEAFEMRRR SN
identified and whether these had ERAPHER : UER
been considered in the current year REFEEMTRBERE
discounted cash flow forecasts and BEEEMFE
considering if there was any indication
of management bias; . HURASREDATH

BRBRETHEES
performing a sensitivity analysis of key o WEEHEHAFE
assumptions in the discounted cash HEEREENTE A
flow forecasts and considering the REGFEFABRER
resulting impact on the impairment EEEEMEE &
charge for the year and whether there
were any indicators of management . BERTGHEINER
bias; and A AR A BT HRR RO
BRGAE -
assessing the reasonableness of
the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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Accruals for services fees to outsourced service providers

Refer to note 7(c) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies

in note 2(f)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed
in our audit

BRRER BB R e R

FRR R B BN 7(c) U RITGE2(F)(ii) P B FEF -

BRESER

RAEWETMAREZSE

During the year ended December 31,
2022, the Group incurred significant
research and development ("R&D")
expenses of RMB296.4 million, of
which service fees paid to contract
research organizations ("CROs")
and clinical site management
operators ("SMOs") (collectively the
“outsourced service providers”)
amounted to RMB155.6 million.

We identified accruals for service fees
for the outsourced service providers
as a key audit matter because clinical
trials are core part of the Group's
R&D activities and there is a risk of
under/over accruals of R&D expenses
at the end of the reporting period
given the significance of the Group's
R&D expenses to the consolidated
financial statements.

Our audit procedures to assess accruals for
service fees to outsourced service providers
included the following:

0 understanding and evaluating the
design and implementation of key

internal controls over:

. the engagement of CROs and

SMOs;

u the oversight and management
of the progress of the underlying
clinical trials;

u the accounting for related
expenses;

o inquiring management and project
managers about the progress of clinical
trials;

o examining, on a sample basis, the

service fees to outsourced service
providers recorded during the year,
agreeing them to the relevant service
agreements, outsourced service
providers’ acknowledgement of
milestones achieved, invoices and bank
payment advices for settled balances
and assessing whether the related
service fees have been recognized in
accordance with the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

0 re-calculating the accruals for service
fees to the outsourced service providers
and comparing the recalculated amount
with the recorded amount, on a sample
basis, based on the progress of related
clinical trial activities/milestones
achieved and the terms stated in the
underlying service agreements;
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Accruals for services fees to outsourced service providers BRI B R st 50
Refer to note 7(c) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies R A ERENE7(C)URIF2(0) (i) FAISFTHE
in note 2(f)(ii).

How the matter was addressed

The Key Audit Matter in our audit BRETEE RENESMAREEZZE

. sending confirmations to major . EEELRTEW T
outsourced service providers to confirm HERE - ISR R
the service fees, progress/milestones R EE/DEINE
achieved, on a sample basis. For TR o 10K B UK e B R
unreturned confirmations, comparing £ AIBEEMES Y4h
service fees paid and payable to BRIRAREER R &R
outsourced service providers with HIRRREHE « FRIRER
the underlying service agreements, TR EMRERRERNE
outsourced service providers’ RENBEERTILE
acknowledgement of milestones
achieved and invoices; . BAEENERTHEL

—{E#RE B AERKE T

. comparing actual payments during the BREAERETLR
current year with the accrued fees to VART (& 8 B 2 FE R TR R
outsourced service providers at the last SRR DR Rk
reporting date to assess the accuracy
of accruals of R&D expenses; and . RS B R ER AR

R B R R A R AR H

. comparing actual service fee payments SRBBRETLE - N
made subsequent to the reporting AEREFERMER
date with the accrued service fees REAREHRT R /R8st
to outsourced service providers at J o

the reporting date to assess whether
there were any significant under/over-
accrued balances.

116 Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A



Independent Auditor’s Report

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent HEARBIZHEMMBENEFEEEEARZAS -
auditor’s report is Lau Tai Cheong.

KPMG EFR ST MEHA
Certified Public Accountants HEEGT D

8th Floor, Prince’s Building BEFIR

10 Chater Road EITEL105%
Central, Hong Kong RNFAESE
March 27, 2023 202343 A27H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

meEBEmR

For the year ended December 31;.20225°° -
BZ2022612A31 BIEERE "

2022
20224
RMB’000
AR®TT

38,041
(29,731)
(296,430)
(86,109)
(29,946)

(404,175)
(3,142)

(407,317)

(407,317)

(0.75)

Revenue e

Other income E A A

Other net (loss)/gain Hi(E18) ks F58

Research and development expenses e

General and administrative expenses —RRITEER

Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAY

Loss from operations REBE

Interest expenses F SR

Changes in the carrying amount of preferred B ABERASEEES)
shares liability

Loss before taxation RRE A5 18

Income tax FriS®t

Loss for the year FREE

Loss per share (RMB) SREB(AR%T)

Basic BN

Diluted i3]

(0.75)

The notes on pages 127 to 221 form part of these financial statements.

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARKET T
21,133
13,409
(220,058)
(162,080)
(16,736)
(364,332)
(1,949)

(1,763,499)
(2,129,780)

(2,129,780)

(5.16)
(5.16)

F£127E221 AR BRI BT —#8D -
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
relEnkHEMEENKER

e rsedor the year ended December 31, 2022
oI EE2022512A